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CR06786-2018

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
SEC FORM 20-IS

INFORMATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17.1(b) 
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE

1. Check the appropriate box:
 Preliminary Information Statement
 Definitive Information Statement

2. Name of Registrant as specified in its charter

Ferronoux Holdings, Inc.
3. Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization

Metro Manila, Philippines
4. SEC Identification Number

A200115151
5. BIR Tax Identification Code

219-045-668
6. Address of principal office

6th Floor, Hanston Building, F. Ortigas, Jr. Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City
Postal Code  
1600

7. Registrant's telephone number, including area code

+63 917 8078815
8. Date, time and place of the meeting of security holders

Not Applicable
9. Approximate date on which the Information Statement is first to be sent or given to security holders

Nov 9, 2018
10. In case of Proxy Solicitations:

Name of Person Filing the Statement/Solicitor

N/A
Address and Telephone No.

N/A

11. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA
(information on number of shares and amount of debt is applicable only to corporate registrants):

Title of Each Class Number of Shares of Common Stock Outstanding and Amount of Debt Outstanding

Common 261,824,002
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 Yes  No
13. Are any or all of registrant's securities listed on a Stock Exchange?

If yes, state the name of such stock exchange and the classes of securities listed therein:

Philippine Stock Exchange

The Exchange does not warrant and holds no responsibility for the veracity of the facts and representations contained in all corporate
disclosures, including financial reports. All data contained herein are prepared and submitted by the disclosing party to the Exchange,
and are disseminated solely for purposes of information. Any questions on the data contained herein should be addressed directly to
the Corporate Information Officer of the disclosing party.

Ferronoux Holdings, Inc.
FERRO

PSE Disclosure Form 17-5 - Information Statement for Annual or  
Special Stockholders' Meeting  
References: SRC Rule 20 and  

Section 17.10 of the Revised Disclosure Rules

Date of Stockholders'
Meeting Dec 3, 2018

Type (Annual or
Special) Annual

Time 1:00 p.m.

Venue Kalayaan 3, Club Filipino, Club Filipino Avenue corner Eisenhower, Greehills, San Juan City,
Metro Manila

Record Date Oct 22, 2018

Inclusive Dates of Closing of Stock Transfer Books

Start Date N/A

End date N/A

Other Relevant Information

Please see attached Definitive Information Statement.

Filed on behalf by:

Name Manuel Gonzalez

Designation Corporate Secretary
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BDO REPORT 
AS OF SEPTEMBER 30 2018 

Appendix A 



COMPANY NAME : Page 1FERRONOUX HOLDINGS, INC.

LIST OF ALL STOCKHOLDERS

As Of September 30, 2018

OUTSTANDING & OUTSTANDING & TOTAL PERCENTAGE

ISSUED SHARES HOLDINGSISSUED SHARES TO

(FULLY PAID) (PARTIALLY PAID) (SUBSCRIBED)

STOCKHOLDER'S NAME

TOTAL

NATIONALITY

PCD NOMINEE CORP. (FILIPINO) FILIPINO     261,705,119 261,705,119  0  99.955

PCD NOMINEE CORP. (NON-FIL) NON-FILIPINO  58,011 58,011  0  0.022

JOSELYN C. TIU FILIPINO     18,747 18,747  0  0.007

MARJORIE VILLANUEVA FILIPINO     18,747 18,747  0  0.007

LEILA E. JORGE FILIPINO     10,001 10,001  0  0.004

FELISA D. KING FILIPINO     8,747 8,747  0  0.003

MATHEW JOHN G. ALMOGINO FILIPINO     1,000 1,000  0  0.000

REMEGIO C. DAYANDAYAN FILIPINO     1,000 1,000  0  0.000

RAMON N. SANTOS FILIPINO     1,000 1,000  0  0.000

JESUS SAN LUIS VALENCIA FILIPINO     1,000 1,000  0  0.000

ISIDRO C. ALCANTARA JR FILIPINO     100 100  0  0.000

MANUEL M. LAZARO FILIPINO     100 100  0  0.000

GE LIN CHINESE      100 100  0  0.000

HERMOGENE H. REAL FILIPINO     100 100  0  0.000

ARSENIO K. SEBIAL JR FILIPINO     100 100  0  0.000

ANTHONY M. TE FILIPINO     100 100  0  0.000

OWEN NATHANIEL S AU ITF: LI MARCUS AU FILIPINO     20 20  0  0.000

PETER KHO FILIPINO     2 2  0  0.000

DALESON UY FILIPINO     2 2  0  0.000

JESUS G. CHUA, JR. FILIPINO     1 1  0  0.000

IRVING C. COSIQUIEN FILIPINO     1 1  0  0.000

MICHAEL C. COSIQUIEN FILIPINO     1 1  0  0.000

YERIK C. COSIQUIEN FILIPINO     1 1  0  0.000

ALFRED S. JACINTO FILIPINO     1 1  0  0.000

MICHELLE JOAN G. TAN FILIPINO     1 1  0  0.000

     

GRAND TOTAL (25)  261,824,002  0  261,824,002

THIS IS A COMPUTER GENERATED REPORT AND IF ISSUED WITHOUT ALTERATION, DOES NOT REQUIRE ANY SIGNATURE.

 100.000

  

David I. Del Castillo
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PDTC REPORT AS OF 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 



1 of 2

Business Date: September 28, 2018
BPNAME HOLDINGS
UPCC SECURITIES CORP.                                                90,000 
A & A SECURITIES, INC.                                                32,000 
ABACUS SECURITIES CORPORATION                                          1,557,607 
PHILSTOCKS FINANCIAL INC                                              100,357 
A. T. DE CASTRO SECURITIES CORP.                                              490,000 
ALPHA SECURITIES CORP.                                              155,000 
BA SECURITIES, INC.                                              100,000 
AP SECURITIES INCORPORATED                                              137,600 
ANSALDO, GODINEZ & CO., INC.                                              290,000 
AB CAPITAL SECURITIES, INC.                                                55,850 
SB EQUITIES,INC.                                                80,000 
ASIA PACIFIC CAPITAL EQUITIES & SECURITIES CORP.                                                17,000 
ASIASEC EQUITIES, INC.                                              114,000 
BELSON SECURITIES, INC.                                                99,000 
B. H. CHUA SECURITIES CORPORATION                                                  5,000 
BPI SECURITIES CORPORATION                                              775,467 
BDO NOMURA SECURITIES INC                                        12,627,000 
CITISECURITIES, INC.                                                50,000 
TRITON SECURITIES CORP.                                              120,000 
IGC SECURITIES INC.                                              144,000 
E. CHUA CHIACO SECURITIES, INC.                                                17,000 
EQUITIWORLD SECURITIES, INC.                                                16,000 
EVERGREEN STOCK BROKERAGE & SEC., INC.                                                80,000 
FIRST ORIENT SECURITIES, INC.                                                  2,092 
F. YAP SECURITIES, INC.                                        25,171,200 
AURORA SECURITIES, INC.                                                95,000 
HDI SECURITIES, INC.                                      176,473,075 
INVESTORS SECURITIES, INC,                                                16,200 
IMPERIAL,DE GUZMAN,ABALOS & CO.,INC.                                                  5,000 
J.M. BARCELON & CO., INC.                                                10,000 
LUCKY SECURITIES, INC.                                        10,432,593 
COL Financial Group, Inc.                                          8,442,408 
DA MARKET SECURITIES, INC.                                          1,307,700 
MERCANTILE SECURITIES CORP.                                                29,000 
MOUNT PEAK SECURITIES, INC.                                                      500 
NEW WORLD SECURITIES CO., INC.                                              110,000 
RCBC SECURITIES, INC.                                                13,000 
MAYBANK ATR KIM ENG SECURITIES, INC.                                              293,000 
SALISBURY BKT SECURITIES CORPORATION                                                10,000 
QUALITY INVESTMENTS & SECURITIES CORPORATION                                                13,000 
R & L INVESTMENTS, INC.                                                10,000 
R. COYIUTO SECURITIES, INC.                                        11,733,263 
REGINA CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION                                                12,000 
R. S. LIM & CO., INC.                                                  5,000 
S.J. ROXAS & CO., INC.                                                10,000 
SUMMIT SECURITIES, INC.                                              152,000 
TOWER SECURITIES, INC.                                          1,712,000 
APEX PHILIPPINES EQUITIES CORPORATION                                                28,000 
UCPB SECURITIES, INC.                                                  6,000 
VENTURE SECURITIES, INC.                                                90,800 
FIRST METRO SECURITIES BROKERAGE CORP.                                              432,108 

OUTSTANDING BALANCES FOR A SPECIFIC COMPANY

Company Code - FERRO0000000

FERRONOUX HOLDINGS INC



2 of 2

BPNAME HOLDINGS
WEALTH SECURITIES, INC.                                              888,010 
WESTLINK GLOBAL EQUITIES, INC.                                                61,000 
BERNAD SECURITIES, INC.                                              105,000 
YU & COMPANY, INC.                                              136,000 
BDO SECURITIES CORPORATION                                          4,611,100 
EAGLE EQUITIES, INC.                                                61,000 
SOLAR SECURITIES, INC.                                              992,100 
G.D. TAN & COMPANY, INC.                                              570,000 
UNICAPITAL SECURITIES INC.                                              154,000 
SunSecurities, Inc.                                                20,000 
COHERCO SECURITIES, INC.                                              387,000 
ARMSTRONG SECURITIES, INC.                                                      100 
KING'S POWER SECURITIES, INC.                                                10,000 

TOTAL                          261,763,130 

If no written notice of any error or correction is received by PDTC within five (5) calendar days from 

receipt hereof, you shall be deemed to have accepted the accuracy and completeness of the details 

indicated in this report.
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENT 
ENDING DECEMBER 31 2018 

David I. Del Castillo
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UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENT 
FOR THE QUARTER ENDING 

SEPTEMBER 30 2018 
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MINUTES OF THE 2017 ANNUAL 
STOCKHOLDERS' MEETING 

Appendix F 

















Appendix G 

AMENDED ARTICLES OF 
INCORPORATION 



AMENDED ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION 

 

OF 

 

FERRONOUX HOLDINGS, INC. 

(Formerly AG FINANCE INCORPORATED) 

(As amended by the Board of Directors on 7 April 201 7 and by the Stockholders owning at least two - 

thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on 11 December 2017) 

 

KNOWN ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 

 

THAT WE, all of whom are residents of the Republic of the Philippines, have on this 

date voluntarily associated ourselves together for the purpose of forming a corporation under 

the laws of the Republic of the Philippines. 

 

AND WE DO HEREBY CERTIFY: 

 

FIRST:  That the name of the said corporation shall be: 

 

“FERRONOUX HOLDINGS, INC.” 

 

(As amended by the Board of Directors on 7 April 2017 and by the Stockholders owning at least two- 

thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on 11 December 201 7) 

 

SECOND:  That the purpose for which said corporation is formed are: 

 

PRIMARY 

 

That the primary purpose or objects for which the Corporation is formed are:  

 

To acquire by purchase, exchange, assignment, gift or otherwise, and to hold, own and use 



for investment or otherwise, and to sell, assign, transfer, exchange, lease, let, develop, mortgage, 

pledge, deal in, and with, and otherwise operate, enjoy and dispose of, any and all properties of 

every kind and description and whatsoever situated, as to and to the extent permitted by law, 

including but not limited to bonds, debentures, promissory notes, shares of stock, or other 

securities or obligations, created, negotiated or issued by any corporation, association, or other 

entity, foreign or domestic and while the owner, holder or possessors thereof, to exercise all the 

rights, powers and privileges of ownership or any other interest therein, including the right to 

receive, collect and dispose of, any and all dividends interest and income derived therefrom, 

and the right to vote on any proprietary or other interest, on an shares of the capital stock and u 

on an bonds debentures or other securities having voting power, so owned or held and 

provided that it shall not engage in the business of an open-end or close-end investment 

company as defined in the Investment Company Act (Republic Act 2629}, or act as securities 

broker or dealer of securities. (As amended by the Board of Directors on 6 March 2015 and by the 

Stockholders owning at least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on 11 December 201 7) 

 

 

SECONDARY 

 

1.  To purchase, acquire, own, lease, sell and convey real properties such as land, 

buildings, factories and warehouses and machinery, equipment and other personal properties 

as may be necessary or incidental to the conduct of the corporate business, and to pay in cash, 

shares of its capital stock, debentures and other evidences of indebtedness, or other securities, 

as may be deemed expedient, for any business or property acquired by the corporation. 

 

2. To borrow or raise money necessary to meet the financial requirements of its 

business by the issuance of bonds, promissory notes and other evidences of indebtedness, and 

to secure the repayment thereof by mortgage, pledge, deed or trust or lien upon the properties 

of the corporation or to issue pursuant to law shares of its capital stock, debentures and other 

evidences of indebtedness acquired by the corporation or for money borrowed in the 

prosecution of its lawful business. 

 



3. To invest and deal with the money and properties of the corporation in such 

manner as may from time to time be considered wise or expedient for the advancement of its 

interests and to sell, dispose of or transfer the business, properties and goodwill of the 

corporation or any part thereof for such consideration and under such terms as it shall see fit to 

accept; 

 

4.  To aid in any manner any corporation, association, or trust estate, domestic or 

foreign, or any firm or individual, any shares of stock in which or any bonds, debentures, notes, 

securities, evidences of indebtedness, contracts or obligations of which are held by or for this 

corporation, directly or indirectly or through other corporations or otherwise.  

 

5.  To enter into any lawful arrangements for sharing profits, union of interest, 

unitization or farm-out agreement, reciprocal concession or cooperation with any corporation, 

association, partnership, syndicate, entity, person or governmental, municipal or public 

authority, domestic or foreign, in the carrying of any business or transaction deemed, necessary, 

convenient or incidental to carrying out of any of the purposes of this corporation; 

 

6.  To acquire or obtain from any government or authority, national, provincial, 

municipal or otherwise, or any corporation, company or partnership or person such charter, 

contracts, franchise, privileges, exemption, licenses and concessions as may be conducive to any 

of the objects of the corporation; 

 

7.  To establish and operate one more branch offices or agencies and to carry on any 

or all of its operations and business without any restriction as to place or amount including the 

right to hold, purchase or otherwise acquire, lease, mortgage, pledge and convey or otherwise 

deal in and with real and personal property anywhere within the Philippines; 

 

8.  To conduct and transact any and all lawful business, and to do or cause to be 

done any one or more of the acts and things herein set forth as its purposes, within or without 

the Philippines, and in any and all foreign countries and to do everything necessary, desirable 

or incidental to the accomplishment of the purposes or the exercise of any one or more of the 



powers herein enumerated, or which shall at any time appear conducive to or expedient for the 

protection or benefit of this corporation. 

 

THIRD:  That the place where the principal office of the corporation is, to be 

established or located is at 6th Floor, Hanston Building, F. Ortigas, Jr. Road, Ortigas Center, 

Pasig City. (As amended by the Board of Directors on 8 June 2018 and by the Stockholders owning at 

least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on •) 

 

FOURTH:  The term for which said corporation is to exist is fifty (50) years from and 

after the date of issuance of the Certificate of Incorporation. 

 

FIFTH:  The names, nationalities and addresses of the incorporators of said 

corporation are as follows: 

 

Name Nationality Address 

Mario M. Tongson Filipino #19 Moonstone St., Northview I, 

Filinvest II, Quezon City 

Sharone O. King Filipino 3917 Sociego St., Sta. Mesa, Manila 

Dominador R. Aytona Filipino 93 Sct. Reyes Diliman, Quezon City 

Lorna P. Pangilinan Filipino #15 Vanezuela St., Loyola Grand Villas, 

Katipunan Road, Quezon City 

Maria Paz I. Diokno Filipino Unit 525, Star Centru, Condominium, 

Sen Gil Puyat Ave., Makati City 

Fernando P. Po Filipino 17-L Luntan St., Brgy. Doña Imelda, 

Quezon City 

Valentin M. Panaguinton Filipino 11 Lanzones St., Town & Country 

Executive Village, Antipolo City 

 

SIXTH:  That the number of directors of said corporation shall be Nine (9) and the 

names, nationalities and residences of the directors who, are to serve until their successors are 

elected and qualified, as provided by the By-Laws, are as follows: (As amended by the Board of 

David I. Del Castillo




Directors on 5 October 2018 and by the Stockholders owning at least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding 

capital stock on •) 

 

Name Nationality Address 

Mario M. Tongson Filipino #19 Moonstone St., Northview I, 

Filinvest II, Quezon City 

Sharone O. King Filipino 3917 Sociego St., Sta. Mesa, Manila 

Dominador R. Aytona Filipino 93 Sct. Reyes Diliman, Quezon City 

Lorna P. Pangilinan Filipino #15 Vanezuela St., Loyola Grand Villas, 

Katipunan Road, Quezon City 

Maria Paz I. Diokno Filipino Unit 525, Star Centru, Condominium, 

Sen Gil Puyat Ave., Makati City 

Fernando P. Po Filipino 17-L Luntan St., Brgy. Doña Imelda, 

Quezon City 

Valentin M. Panaguinton Filipino 11 Lanzones St., Town & Country 

Executive Village, Antipolo City 

 

SEVENTH:  That the authorized capital stock of the corporation is FIVE HUNDRED 

FIFTY MILLION PESOS (PhP 550,000,000.00) and said capital stock is divided into FIVE 

HUNDRED FIFTY MILLION (550,000,000.00) shares of common stock with a par value of 

ONE PESO (PhP 1.00) each. (As amended on 29 June 2012). 

 

No stockholder of the Corporation, because of his/ its ownership of stock, has a pre-

emptive right to purchase, subscribe for or take any part of any stock or of any other securities 

convertible into or carrying options or warrants to purchase stock of the Corporation. Any part 

of such stock of or other securities may, at anytime, be issued, optioned for sale, and sold or 

disposed of by the Corporation pursuant to resolution of the Board of Directors, to such person 

and upon such terms as such Board may deem proper, without first offering such stock or 

securities or any part thereof to existing stockholders. This restriction shall be printed on the 

stock certificates of the Corporation. (As amended on 13 March 2013). 

 

David I. Del Castillo




EIGHTH: That at least 2596 of the authorized capital stock has been subscribed and 

at least 25% of the total subscription has been paid as follows: 

 

Name Nationality 
No. of 

Shares 

Amount 

Subscribed 
Amount Paid 

Asian Silver Estates, Inc.  3,450,000 Php 3,450,000.00 Php 3,450,000.00 

Axelerando Holdings, Inc.  1,499,998 Php 1,499,998.00 Php 1,499,998.00 

Mario M. Tongson Filipino 10,000 Php 10,000.00 Php 10,000.00 

Sharone O. King Filipino 10,000 Php 10,000.00 Php 10,000.00 

Dominador R. Aytona Filipino 10,000 Php 10,000.00 Php 10,000.00 

Lorna P. Pangilinan Filipino 10,000 Php 10,000.00 Php 10,000.00 

Maria Paz I. Diokno Filipino 10,000 Php 10,000.00 Php 10,000.00 

Fernando P. Go Filipino 1 Php 1.00 Php 1.00 

Valentin M. Panaguinton Filipino 1 Php 1.00 Php 1.00 

 TOTAL 5,000,000 Php 5,000,000 Php 5,000,000 

 

NINTH:  No transfer of stock or interest which would reduce the stock ownership 

of Filipino citizens to less than the required percentage of the capital stock as provided by 

existing laws shall be allowed or permitted to be recorded in the proper books of corporation 

and this restriction shall be indicated in the stock certificates issued by the corporation. 

 

TENTH:  That SHARONE O. KING has been elected by the subscribers as 

Treasurer of the corporation to act as such until his/ her successor is duly elected and shall have 

qualified in accordance with the by-laws; and that, as such Treasurer, he / she has been 

authorized to receive for the corporation, and to issue in its name receipts for, all subscription 

paid in by the subscribers. 

 

ELEVENTH:  That the corporation manifests its willingness to change its corporate 

name in the event another person, firm or entity has acquired a prior right to use the said firm 

name or one deceptively or confusingly similar to it. 

 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto set our hands, this ________________ day of 

________________________at Makati City, Philippines. 

 
 
 

SIGNED 
Mario M. Tongson 

 
 
 

SIGNED 
Sharon O. King 

 
 
 

SIGNED 
Dominador R. Aytona 

 
 
 

SIGNED 
Ma. Paz I. Diokno 

 
 
 

SIGNED 
Fernando P. Go 

 
 
 

SIGNED 
Valentin M. Panaguiton 

 
 
 

SIGNED IN THE PRESENCE OF: 
 
 

SIGNED (illegible) SIGNED (illegible) 
_________________________________ _________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES ) 
CITY OF MAKATI   )S.S. 
 

BEFORE ME, a Notary Public, in and for the City of Makati, Philippines, this 1st 
day of October 2001, personally appeared: 

 

NAME CTC No. Date & Place Issued 

Mario M. Tongson   

Sharone O. King   

Dominador R. Aytona   

Lorna P. Pangilinan   

Ma. Paz I. Diokno   

Fernando P. Go   

Valentin M. Panaguiton   

 
all known to me and to me known to be the same persons who executed the foregoing Articles 
of Incorporation and they acknowledge to me that the same is their free and voluntary act and 
deed and of the corporation of which he represents.  
 

IN TESTIMNY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my notarial seal on 
the date and at the place first above-written. 

 
 

MICHAEL REX O. CELIZ 
Notary Public 
Until 31 December 2001 
PTR No. 7725632 
Issued on 2 January 2001 
Issued at Makati City 

 
Doc. No.  87; 
Page No.  18; 
Book No.  XII; 
Series of 2001. 

David I. Del Castillo
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AMENDED BY - LAWS 
 

OF 
 

FERRONOUX HOLDINGS, INC. 
(formerly, AG FINANCE INCORPORATED) 

(As amended by the Board of Directors on 11 December 2017 and by the Stockholders owning at least 
two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on 11 December 2017) 

 
ARTICLE I 

 
SUBSCRIPTION, ISSUANCE AND TRANSFER OF SHARES 

 
Section 1. Subscription - Subscribers to the capital stock of the corporation shall pay the 

value of the stock in accordance with the terms and conditions prescribed by the Board of 
Directors Unpaid subscription shall not earn interest unless determined by the Board of 
Directors. 

 
Section 2. Certificate - The stockholders shall be entitled to one or more certificates for 

fully paid stock subscription in his name in the books of the corporation. The certificates shall 
contains the matters required by law and the Articles of Incorporation. They shall be in such 
form and design as may be determined by the Board of Directors and numbered consecutively. 
The certificate shall be signed by the President, countersigned by the Secretary or Assistant 
Secretary, and sealed with the corporate seal. 

 
Section 3. Transfer of Shares - Subject to the restrictions, terms and conditions 

contained in the Articles of Incorporation, shares may be transferred, sold, assigned or pledged 
by delivery of the certificates duly indorsed by the stockholder, his attorney-intact, or other 
legally authorized person. The transfer shall be valid and binding on the corporation only upon 
record thereof in the books of the corporation. The Secretary shall cancel the stock certificates 
and issue new certificates to the transferee.  

 
No shares of stock against which the corporation holds unpaid claim shall be 

transferable in the books of the corporation, unless, the transferee assumes all unpaid claims of 
the corporation. 

 
All certificates surrender for transfer shall be stamped “Cancelled” on the face thereof, 

together with the date of cancellation, and attached to the corresponding stub with the 
certificate book 

 
ARTICLE II 

 
MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS 

 
Section 1.  Annual/Regular Meetings - The annual/regular meeting of stockholders 

shall be held at the principal place of business of the Corporation on the last Friday of June of 



each year, if a legal holiday, then on the day following. (As amended on March 13, 2013 by the 
Board of Directors and by the shareholders.) 
 
 Section 2. Special Meetings – The Special Meetings of stockholders, for any 
purposes, may at any time be called by any one of the following: (a) Board of Directors, at its 
own instance, or at the written request of stockholders representing a majority of the 
outstanding capital stock, (b) president. 
 

Section 3.  Place of Meeting - Stockholders meeting, whether regular or special, 
shall be held in the principal office of the corporation, or at any place designated by the Board 
of Directors in city or municipality where the principal office of the corporation is located. 
 

Section 4. Notice of Meeting - Notices for regular or special meetings of 
stockholders may be given either: 
 

(a) by personal delivery, registered mail, facsimile transmission or electronic mail to 
each stockholder no less than fifteen (15) days prior to the date set for each 
meeting, which notice shall state the day, hour and place of the meeting; or 

 
(b) by publication in newspapers of general circulation published in Metro Manila not 

less than fifteen (15) days prior to the date set for the meeting, Which notice shall 
state the day, hour and place of the meeting; 

 
provided that, in all cases where the address of the registered stockholder entitled to vote is 
outside the territorial limits of the Philippines, a written notice sent by air mail, by facsimile 
transmission or electronic mail not less than fifteen (15) days prior to the date of the meeting 
shall be sent to such stockholder. 
 
No failure or irregularity of notice of any regular or special meeting at which the stockholders 
concerned are present or represented and voting without protest shall invalidate such meeting 
or any proceeding thereat, provided that the matters taken up were within the meters of the 
Corporation. (As amended on March 13, 2013 by the Board of Directors and by the Shareholders.) 
 

When the meeting of stockholders is adjourned to another time or place, it shall not be 
necessary to give any notice of the adjourned meeting if the time and place to which the 
meeting is adjourned are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. At the 
reconvened meeting, any business may be transacted that might have been transacted on the 
original date of the meeting. 
 

Section 5.  Quorum - Unless otherwise provided by the law, in all regular or special 
meeting of stockholders, a majority of the outstanding capital stock must be present or 
represented in order to constitute a quorum. If no quorum is constituted, the meeting shall be 
adjourned until the requisite amount of stock shall be present. 
 

Section 6.  Conduct of Meeting - Meeting of the stockholders shall be presided over 
by the President, or on his absence, by a chairman to be chosen by the stockholders. The 



Corporate Secretary shall act as secretary of every meeting, but if not present, the chairman of 
the meeting shall appoint a secretary to act as such for that particular meeting. 
 

Section 7.  Manner of Voting - At all meeting of the stockholders, a stockholder may 
vote in person or by proxy. Unless otherwise provided, the proxy shall be valid only for the 
meeting at which it has been presented to the Secretary. All proxies must be in the hands of the 
Secretary no later than ten (10) days prior to the date of the meeting. Proxies filed with the 
Secretary may be revoked by the stockholders either in an instrument in writing duly presented 
and recorded with the Secretary prior to a scheduled meeting or by their personal presence at 
the meeting. (As amended on March 13, 2013 by the Board of Directors and by the Shareholders.) 

 
Section 8.  Closing of Transfer Books or Fixing of Record Date - For the purpose of 

determining the stockholders entitled to notice of, or to vote at, any meeting of stockholders or 
any adjournment thereof or to receive payment of any dividend, the board of Directors may 
provide that the stock and transfer books be closed for at least ten (10) working days 
immediately preceding such meeting. In lieu of closing the stock and transfer books, the Board 
of Directors may fix in advance a certain date as the record date for any such determination of 
stockholders. (As amended on March 13, 2013 by the Board of Directors and by the Shareholders.) 

 
Section 9.  Nomination Period - All nominations for directors to be elected by the 

stockholders of the mention shall be submitted in writing to the Corporate Secretary at the 
principal office of the Corporation not earlier than forty (40) working days nor later than twenty 
(20) working days prior to the date of the regular or special meeting of stockholders for the 
election of Directors. Nominations which are not submitted within such nomination period 
shall not be valid. Only a stockholder of record entitled to notice of and to vote at the regular or 
special meeting of stockholders for the election of director’s shall be qualified to be nominated 
and elected a director of the corporation. (As amended on March 13, 2013 by the Board of Directors 
and by the Shareholders.) 

 
ARTICLE III 

 
BOARD QF DIRECTORS 

 
Section 1.a.  Power of the Board - Unless otherwise provided by law, the corporate powers of 
the corporation shall be exercised, all business conducted and all property of the corporation 
controlled and held by the Board of nine (9) Directors to be elected by and from among the 
stockholders. Without prejudice to such powers as may be granted by law the Board of 
Directors shall also have the following powers: (As amended by the Board of Directors on 5 October 
2018 and by the Stockholders owning at least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on •) 

 
a) From time to time, to make and change rules and regulations not inconsistent with 

these by-laws for the management of the corporation's business affairs; 
 
b) To purchase, receive, take or otherwise acquire for and in the name of the corporation, 

any and all properties, rights, or privileges, including securities and bonds of the other 
corporation, for such consideration and upon such terms and conditions as Board may deem 
proper or convenient; 



 
c) To invest the funds of the corporation in other corporation or for purposes other than 

those for which the corporation was organized, subject to such stockholders’ approval as may 
be required by law; 

 
d) To incur such indebtedness as the Board may deem necessary, to issue evidence of 

indebtedness including without limitation, notes, deed of trust, bonds, debenture, or securities, 
subject to such stockholders approval as may be required by law, and/ or pledge, mortgage, or 
otherwise encumber all or part of the properties of the corporation; 
 

e) To establish pension, retirement, bonus, or other types of incentives or compensation 
plans for the employees, including officers and directors of the corporation; 
 

f) To prosecute, maintain, defend, compromise or abandon any lawsuit in which the 
corporation or its officers are either plaintiffs or defendants in connection with the business of 
the corporation; 
 

g) To delegate, from time to time any of the powers of the Board which may lawfully 
delegated in the course of the current business of the corporation to any standing or special 
committee or to any officer or agent and to appoint any person to be agent of the corporation 
with such powers and upon such terms as may be deemed fit; 
 

h) To implement these by-laws and to act on any matter not covered by these by-laws 
provided such matter does not require the approval or consent of the stockholders under the 
Corporation Code; 
 

Section l-b.  Independent Director – 
 
i. The Board of Directors shall have number of Independent Directors required by law. An 
independent director may only serve for a maximum cumulative term of nine (9) years. 
Independent director means a person who, apart from his fees and shareholdings, is 
independent of management and free from any business or other relationship which could, 
or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with his exercise of independent 
judgment in carrying out his responsibilities as a director in any corporation that meets the 
requirements of Section 17.2 of the Securities Regulation Code and includes, among others, 
any person who: 

 
a) Is not a director or officer or substantial stockholder of the corporation or of its 
related companies or any of its substantial shareholders (other than as an 
independent director of any of the foregoing); 

 
b) Is not a relative of any director, officer or substantial shareholder of the 
corporation, any of its related companies or any of its substantial shareholders. For 
this purpose, relatives include spouse, parent, child, brother, sister, and the spouse of 
such child, brother or sister; 
 



c) Is not acting as a nominee or representative of a substantial shareholder of the 
corporation, any of its related companies or any of its substantial shareholders; 
 

d) Has not been employed in any executive capacity by that public company, any 
of its related companies or by any of its substantial shareholders within the last five 
(5) years; 
 

e) Is not retained as professional adviser, auditor, consultant, agent or counsel by 
that public company, any of its related companies or any of its substantial 
shareholders, or is otherwise independent of management and free from any business 
or other relationship within the three (3) years immediately preceding the date of his 
election, either personally or through his firm; 
 

f) Has not engaged and does not engage in any transaction with the corporation 
or with any of its related companies or with any of its substantial shareholders, 
whether by himself or with other persons or through a firm of which he is a partner or 
a company of which he is a director or substantial shareholder, other than transactions 
which are conducted at arm's length and are immaterial or insignificant. 
 

g) Is not an owner of more than two (2%) percent of the outstanding shares of the 
covered company, its subsidiaries, associates, affiliates or related companies; 
 

h) Is not a securities broker-dealer of listed companies and registered issuers of 
securities. "Securities broker-dealer" refers to any person holding any office of trust 
and responsibility in a broker-dealer firm, which includes, among others, a director, 
officer, principal stockholder, nominee of the firm to the Exchange, an associated 
person or salesman, and an authorized clerk of the broker or dealer; 
 

i) Is not affiliated with any non-profit organization that receives significant 
funding from the covered company or any of its related companies or substantial 
shareholders; and 
 

j) Is not employed as an executive officer of another company where any of the 
public company's executives serve as directors. 
 

ii. When used in relation to a company subject to the requirements above: 
 
a) Related company means another company which is: (a) its holding company, 
(b) its subsidiary, or (c) a subsidiary of its holding company; and 
 
b) Substantial shareholder means any person who is directly or indirectly the 
beneficial owner of more than ten percent (10%) of any class of its equity security. 
  

iii. The independent director shall have the following qualifications: 
 
a) He shall have at least one (1) share of stock of the Corporation; 
 



b) He shall be at least a college graduate or he shall have been engaged or 
exposed to the business of the Corporation for at least five (5) years; 
 
c) He shall possess integrity/probity; and 
 
d) He shall be assiduous. 
 

iv. The nomination of independent director shall be conducted by the Corporate 
Governance Committee prior to a stockholders' meeting. All recommendations shall be 
signed by the nominating stockholders together with the acceptance and conformity by the 
would-be nominees. 

 
v. After the nomination, the Corporate Governance Committee shall prepare a Final List 
of Candidates which shall contain all the information about all the nominees for 
independent directors. The list shall be made available to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and to all stockholders through the filing and distribution of the Information 
Statement or Proxy Statement, or in such other reports the Corporation is required to submit 
to the Commission. The name of the person or group of persons who recommended the 
nomination of the independent director shall be identified in such report including any 
relationship with the nominee. 
 
vi. Only nominees whose names appear on the Final List of Candidates shall be eligible 
for election as an Independent Director. No other nomination shall be entertained after the 
Final List of Candidates shall have been prepared. No further nomination shall be 
entertained or allowed on the floor during the actual annual stockholders' meeting. 

 
vii. It shall be the responsibility of the Chairman of the Meeting to inform all 
stockholders in attendance of the mandatory requirement of electing an independent 
director. He shall ensure that an independent director is elected during the stockholders' 
meeting. 

 
viii. The specific slot for independent directors shall not be filled-up by unqualified 
nominees. 

 
In case of failure of election for the independent director, the Chairman of the Meeting shall 
call a separate election during the same meeting to fill up the vacancy. (As amended by the 
Board of Directors on 5 October 2018 and by the Stockholders owning at least two-thirds (2/3) of the 
outstanding capital stock on •) 

 
Section 2.  Election and Term - The Board of Directors shall be elected during each 

regular meeting of stockholders and shall hold office for one (1) year and until their successors 
are elected and qualified. 
 

Section 3.  Vacancies - Any vacancy during occurring in the Board of Directors other 
than by removal by the stockholders or by expiration of terms may be filled by the vite of at 
least a majority of the remaining directors, if still constituting a quorum; otherwise, the vacancy 
must be filled by the stockholders at a regular or at any special meeting of stockholders called 



for the purpose. A director so elected to fill a vacancy shall be elected only for the unexpired 
term of his predecessor in office. 

 
The vacancy resulting from the removal of a director by the stockholders in the manner 

provided by law may be filled by election at the same meeting of stockholders without further 
notice, or at any special meeting of stockholders called for the purpose, further giving notice as 
prescribed in these by-laws. 
 

Section 4.  Meetings - Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held once 
every quarter of the year on such dates and places as may be called by the Chairman of the 
Board, or upon the request of a majority of the Directors. (As amended on March 13, 2013 by the 
Board of Directors and by the Shareholders.) 
 

Section 5.  Notice - Notice of the regular or special meeting of the Board, specifying 
the date, time and place of the meeting, shall be communicated by the Secretary to each director 
personally, or by telephone, telegram, or by written message. A director may waive this 
requirement, either expressly or impliedly. 
 

Section 6.  Quorum - A majority of the number of directors as fixed herein and in the 
Articles of Incorporation shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of corporate business and 
every decision of at least a majority of the directors present at a meeting at which there is a 
quorum shall be valid as a corporate act, except for the election of officers which shall require 
the vote of a majority of all the members of the Board. (As amended on March 13, 2013 by the Board 
of Directors and by the Shareholders.) 
 

Section 7.  Conduct of the Meetings - Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be 
presided over by the Chairman of the Board, or in his absence, by any other director chosen by 
the Board. The Secretary, shall act as secretary of every meeting, if not present, the Chairman of 
the meeting shall appoint a secretary of the meeting. The meeting may be held and conducted 
through teleconferencing or videoconferencing. (As amended on March 13, 2013 by the Board of 
Directors and by the Shareholders.) 
 

Section 8.  Compensation - By solution of the Board, each director shall receive a 
reasonable per diem allowance for his attendance at each meeting of the Board. As 
compensation, the Board shall receive and allocate an amount of not more than ten percent 
(10%) of the net income before income tax of the corporation during the preceding year. 
Such compensation shall be determined and apportioned among the directors in such manner 
as the Board may deem proper, subject to the approval of the stockholders representing at least 
a majority of the outstanding capital stock at a regular or special meeting of the stockholders. 
 

Section 9.  Executive Committee - There shall be an Executive Committee composed 
of three (3) members to be determined and appointed by the Board of Directors, and any 
vacancy in said committee shall be filled by the Directors at any meeting of the Board at which a 
quorum shall be present. The members of the Executive Committee may be removed at any 
time by the Board of Directors. Their compensation shall be detaining by the Board of Directors. 
 



The Executive Committee shall advise and aid the officers of the Corporation in all 
matters concerning its interest and the management of its business and, in the intervals between 
the meetings of the Board, shall have and may exercise all the powers of the Board of Directors 
in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation, except (a) such power as are 
granted by statute to the Board of Directors, (b) the power to declare and pay dividends. (c) the 
power to fill vacancies in the Board of Directors, and (d) such other men as the m of Directors 
may expressly reserve at any time. 
 

The Executive Committee may act, by majority vote of all its members. All matters acted 
upon by the Executive Committee shall be submitted to the Board at its meeting held next after 
they have been taken and such transactions of the Executive Committee shall be considered 
ratified by the Board unless otherwise expressly revoked. (As amended on March 13, 2013 by the 
Board of Directors and by the Shareholders.) 

 
Section 10.  Corporate Governance Committee – There shall be a Corporate 

Governance Committee composed of at least three (3) members, all of whom should be 
independent directors, including the Chairman. The Corporate Governance Committee has 
the following duties and functions, among others: 
 

a. Oversees the implementation of the corporate governance framework and 
periodically reviews the said framework to ensure that it remains appropriate in light 
of material changes to the corporation’s size, complexity and business strategy, as 
well as its business and regulatory environments; 
 

b. Oversees the periodic performance evaluation of the Board and its committees as well 
as executive management, and conducts an annual self-evaluation of its performance; 
 

c. Ensures that the results of the Board evaluation are shared, discussed, and that 
concrete action plans are developed and implemented to address the identified areas 
for improvement; 
 

d. Recommends continuing education/training programs for directors, assignment of 
tasks/projects to board committees, succession plan for the board members and senior 
officers, and remuneration packages for corporate and individual performance; 
 

e. Adopts corporate governance policies and ensures that these are reviewed and 
updated regularly, and consistently implemented in form and substance; 
 

f. Proposes and plans relevant trainings for the members of the Board; 
 

g. Determines the nomination and election process for the company’s directors and has 
the special duty of defining the general profile of board members that the company 
may need and ensuring appropriate knowledge, competencies and expertise that 
complement the existing skills of the Board; and 

 
Establishes a formal and transparent procedure to develop a policy for determining 

the remuneration of directors and officers that is consistent with the corporation’s culture 
and strategy as well as the business environment in which it operates.  (As amended by the 



Board of Directors on 5 October 2018 and by the Stockholders owning at least two-thirds (2/3) of the 
outstanding capital stock on •) 

 
Section 11.  Audit Committee - There shall be an Audit Committee composed of at 

least three (3) appropriately qualified non-executive directors, the majority of whom, 
including the Chairman, should be independent. All of the members of the committee must 
have relevant background, knowledge, skills, and/or experience in the areas of accounting, 
auditing and finance. The Chairman of the Audit Committee should not be the chairman of 
the Board or of any other committees. The Audit Committee has the following duties and 
responsibilities, among others: 
 

a. Recommends the approval of the Internal Audit Charter (IA Charter), which formally 
defines the role of Internal Audit and the audit plan as well as oversees the 
implementation of the IA Charter; 
 

b. Through the Internal Audit (IA) Department, monitors and evaluates the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the corporation’s internal control system, integrity of financial 
reporting, and security of physical and information assets. Well-designed internal 
control procedures and processes that will provide a system of checks and balances 
should be in place in order to (a) safeguard the company’s resources and ensure their 
effective utilization, (b) prevent occurrence of fraud and other irregularities, (c) 
protect the accuracy and reliability of the company’s financial data, and (d) ensure 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations; 
 

c. Oversees the Internal Audit Department, and recommends the appointment and/or 
grounds for approval of an internal audit head or Chief Audit Executive (CAE). The 
Audit Committee should also approve the terms and conditions for outsourcing 
internal audit services; 
 

d. Establishes and identifies the reporting line of the Internal Auditor to enable him to 
properly fulfill his duties and responsibilities. For this purpose, he should directly 
report to the Audit Committee; 
 

e. Reviews and monitors Management’s responsiveness to the Internal Auditor’s 
findings and recommendations; 
 

f. Prior to the commencement of the audit, discusses with the External Auditor the 
nature, scope and expenses of the audit, and ensures the proper coordination if more 
than one audit firm is involved in the activity to secure proper coverage and minimize 
duplication of efforts; 
 

g. Evaluates and determines the non-audit work, if any, of the External Auditor, and 
periodically reviews the non-audit fees paid to the External Auditor in relation to the 
total fees paid to him and to the corporation’s overall consultancy expenses. The 
committee should disallow any non-audit work that will conflict with his duties as an 
External Auditor or may pose a threat to his independence (as defined under the Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants). The non-audit work, if allowed, should be 



disclosed in the corporation’s Annual Report and Annual Corporate Governance 
Report; 
 

h. Reviews and approves the Interim and Annual Financial Statements before their 
submission to the Board, with particular focus on the following matters: 

 Any change/s in accounting policies and practices 

 Areas where a significant amount of judgment has been exercised 

 Significant adjustments resulting from the audit 

 Going concern assumptions 

 Compliance with accounting standards 

 Compliance with tax, legal and regulatory requirements 
 

i. Reviews the disposition of the recommendations in the External Auditor’s 
management letter; 
 

j. Performs oversight functions over the corporation’s Internal and External Auditors. It 
ensures the independence of Internal and External Auditors, and that both auditors 
are given unrestricted access to all records, properties and personnel to enable them to 
perform their respective audit functions; 
 

k. Coordinates, monitors and facilitates compliance with laws, rules and regulations; 
and 
 

l. Recommends to the Board the appointment, reappointment, removal and fees of the 
External Auditor, duly accredited by the Commission, who undertakes an 
independent audit of the corporation, and provides an objective assurance on the 
manner by which the financial statements should be prepared and presented to the 
stockholders. 

 
The Audit Committee meets with the Board at least every quarter without the 

presence of the President or other management team members, and periodically meets with 
the head of the internal audit. (As amended by the Board of Directors on 5 October 2018 and by the 
Stockholders owning at least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on •) 

 
Section 12.  Board Risk Oversight Committee – There shall be a Board Risk 

Oversight Committee (BROC) composed of at least three (3) members, the majority of whom 
should be independent directors, including the Chairman. The Chairman should not be the 
Chairman of the Board or of any other committee. At least one member of the committee 
must have relevant thorough knowledge and experience on risk and risk management. The 
Board Risk Oversight Committee has the following duties and responsibilities, among 
others: 

 
a. Develops a formal enterprise risk management plan which contains the following 

elements: (a) common language or register of risks, (b) well-defined risk management 
goals, objectives and oversight, (c) uniform processes of assessing risks and 
developing strategies to manage prioritized risks, (d) designing and implementing 
risk management strategies, and (e) continuing assessments to improve risk strategies, 
processes and measures; 



 
b. Oversees the implementation of the enterprise risk management plan through a 

Management Risk Oversight Committee. The BROC conducts regular discussions on 
the company’s prioritized and residual risk exposures based on regular risk 
management reports and assesses how the concerned units or offices are addressing 
and managing these risks; 
 

c. Evaluates the risk management plan to ensure its continued relevance, 
comprehensiveness and effectiveness. The BROC revisits defined risk management 
strategies, looks for emerging or changing material exposures, and stays abreast of 
significant developments that seriously impact the likelihood of harm or loss; 
 

d. Advises the Board on its risk appetite levels and risk tolerance limits; 
 

e. Reviews at least annually the company’s risk appetite levels and risk tolerance limits 
based on changes and developments in the business, the regulatory framework, the 
external economic and business environment, and when major events occur that are 
considered to have major impacts on the company; 
 

f. Assesses the probability of each identified risk becoming a reality and estimates its 
possible significant financial impact and likelihood of occurrence. Priority areas of 
concern are those risks that are the most likely to occur and to impact the performance 
and stability of the corporation and its stakeholders; 
 

g. Provides oversight over Management’s activities in managing credit, market, 
liquidity, operational, legal and other risk exposures of the corporation. This function 
includes regularly receiving information on risk exposures and risk management 
activities from Management; and 
 
Reports to the Board on a regular basis, or as deemed necessary, the company’s 

material risk exposures, the actions taken to reduce the risks, and recommends further action 
or plans, as necessary. (As amended by the Board of Directors on 5 October 2018 and by the 
Stockholders owning at least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on •) 

 
Section 13.  Related Party Transaction Committee – There shall be Related Party 

Transaction (RPT) Committee composed of at least three (3) non-executive directors, two of 
whom should be independent, including the Chairman. The following are the functions of 
the RPT Committee, among others: 
 

a. Evaluates on an ongoing basis existing relations between and among businesses and 
counterparties to ensure that all related parties are continuously identified, RPTs are 
monitored, and subsequent changes in relationships with counterparties (from non-
related to related and vice versa) are captured. Related parties, RPTs and changes in 
relationships should be reflected in the relevant reports to the Board and 
regulators/supervisors; 
 

b. Evaluates all material RPTs to ensure that these are not undertaken on more favorable 
economic terms (e.g., price, commissions, interest rates, fees, tenor, collateral 



requirement) to such related parties than similar transactions with nonrelated parties 
under similar circumstances and that no corporate or business resources of the 
company are misappropriated or misapplied, and to determine any potential 
reputational risk issues that may arise as a result of or in connection with the 
transactions. In evaluating RPTs, the Committee takes into account, among others, the 
following: 
 
1. The related party’s relationship to the company and interest in the transaction; 
2. The material facts of the proposed RPT, including the proposed aggregate value of 

such transaction; 
3. The benefits to the corporation of the proposed RPT; 
4. The availability of other sources of comparable products or services; and 
5. An assessment of whether the proposed RPT is on terms and conditions that are 

comparable to the terms generally available to an unrelated party under similar 
circumstances. The company should have an effective price discovery system in 
place and exercise due diligence in determining a fair price for RPTs; 

 
c. Ensures that appropriate disclosure is made, and/or information is provided to 

regulating and supervising authorities relating to the company’s RPT exposures, and 
policies on conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of interest. The disclosure should 
include information on the approach to managing material conflicts of interest that 
are inconsistent with such policies, and conflicts that could arise as a result of the 
company’s affiliation or transactions with other related parties; 
 

d. Reports to the Board of Directors on a regular basis, the status and aggregate 
exposures to each related party, as well as the total amount of exposures to all related 
parties; 
 

e. Ensures that transactions with related parties, including write-off of exposures are 
subject to a periodic independent review or audit process; and 

 
Oversees the implementation of the system for identifying, monitoring, measuring, 

controlling, and reporting RPTs, including a periodic review of RPT policies and procedures. 
(As amended by the Board of Directors on 5 October 2018 and by the Stockholders owning at least two-
thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on •) 

 
Section 14. Other Committees - The Board of Directors may create such other 

Committees as it may consider necessary or advisable for the proper conduct and nomination of 
the affairs of the Corporation and prescribe their respective powers and function. Said 
committees shall be composed of Directors and of such number as the Board may determine. 
The members of any such committee created and appointed by the Board of Directors may be 
removed at any time by the Board and any vacancies in any of said committees shall be filled by 
the Board of Directors (As amended by the Board of Directors on 5 October 2018 and by the 
Stockholders owning at least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on •) 
 

Article IV 
 

OFFICER 



 
Section 1.  Election Appointment - Immediately after their election, the Board of 

Directors shall formally organize by electing the President, the Vice- President, the Treasurer, 
and the Secretary at the said meeting. 
 

The Board may, from time to time, appoint such other officers as it may determine to be 
necessary or proper. Any two (2) or more positions may be held concurrently by the same 
person, except that no one shall act as President and Treasurer or Secretary, and Compliance 
Officer and Secretary at the same time. (As amended by the Board of Directors on 5 October 2018 
and by the Stockholders owning at least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on •) 
 

Section 2.  President - The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the 
corporation and shall exercise the following functions: 
 

a) To preside at the meeting of the stockholders; 
b) To initiate and develop corporate objectives and policies and formulate long 

range projects, plans and programs for the approval of the Board of 
Directors, including those executive training, development and 
compensation; 
 

c) To supervise and manage the business affairs of the corporation upon the 
direction of the Board of Directors; 
 

d) To implement the administrative and operational policies of the corporation 
under his supervision and control; 
 

e) To appoint, remove, suspend or discipline employees of the corporation, 
prescribe their duties , and determine their salaries; 
 

f) To oversee the preparation of the budgets and the statements of accounts of 
the corporation; 
 

g) To represent the corporation at all functions and proceedings; 
 

h) To execute on behalf of the corporation all contracts, agreements and other 
instruments affecting the interest of the corporation which require the 
approval of the Board of Directors. 
 

i) To make reports to the Board of Directors and stockholders; 
 

j) To sign certificate of stock; 
 

k) To perform such other duties as are incident to his office or are entrusted to 
him by the Board of Directors. 

 



Section 4.  The Vice-President - He shall, if qualified, act as President in the absence 
of the latter. He shall have such other powers and duties as may from time to time be assigned 
to him by the Board of Directors or by the President. 
 
 Section 5.   The Secretary - The Secretary, who shall be a resident and citizen of the 
Philippines, shall issue notices of all meetings, shall keep their minutes, shall have charge of 
the corporate seal and books, shall sign with the President the certificates of stock and such 
other instruments as require such signature, and shall make such report’s and perform such 
other duties as are incident to his office or are properly required of him by the Board.  
 

The Secretary must be a separate individual from the Compliance Officer, should not 
be a member of the Board of Directors, and should annually attend a training on corporate 
governance. The Secretary has, among others, the following duties and responsibilities: 

 
a. Assists the Board and the board committees in the conduct of their meetings, 

including preparing an annual schedule of Board and committee meetings and the 
annual board calendar, and assisting the chairs of the Board and its committees to set 
agendas for those meetings; 
 

b. Safe keeps and preserves the integrity of the minutes of the meetings of the Board 
and its committees, as well as other official records of the corporation; 
 

c. Keeps abreast on relevant laws, regulations, all governance issuances, relevant 
industry developments and operations of the corporation, and advises the Board and 
the Chairman on all relevant issues as they arise; 
 

d. Works fairly and objectively with the Board, Management and stockholders and 
contributes to the flow of information between the Board and management, the Board 
and its committees, and the Board and its stakeholders, including shareholders; 
 

e. Advises on the establishment of board committees and their terms of reference; 
 

f. Informs members of the Board, in accordance with the by-laws, of the agenda of their 
meetings at least five working days in advance, and ensures that the members have 
before them accurate information that will enable them to arrive at intelligent 
decisions on matters that require their approval; 
 

g. Attends all Board meetings, except when justifiable causes, such as illness, death in 
the immediate family and serious accidents, prevent him/her from doing so; 
 

h. Performs required administrative functions; 
 

i. Oversees the drafting of the by-laws and ensures that they conform with regulatory 
requirements; and 

 
j. Performs such other duties and responsibilities as may be provided by the SEC. (As 

amended by the Board of Directors on 5 October 2018 and by the Stockholders owning at least 
two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on •) 



 
Section 6.  The Treasurer - The Treasurer of the corporation shall have the following 

duties: 
 

a) To keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in the 
books of corporation; 

 
b) To have custody of, and be responsible for, all the funds, securities and bonds 

of the corporation; 
 

c) To deposit in the name and to the credit of the corporation, in such bank as 
may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors, all the 
moneys, funds, securities, bonds, and similar valuables effects belonging to 
the corporation which may come under his control; 

 
d) To render annual statements showing the financial condition of the 

corporation and such other financial reports as the Board of Directors, or the 
President may, from time to time require; 

 
e) To prepare such financial reports, statements, certifications and other 

documents, which may, from time to time, be required by government rules 
and regulations and to submit the same proper government agencies. 

 

f) To exercise such powers and perform such duties and functions as may be 
assigned to him by the President. 

 
Section 7. Compliance Officer – The Compliance Officer should have a rank of 

Senior Vice President or an equivalent position with adequate stature and authority in the 
corporation. Also, the Compliance Officer should not be a member of the Board of Directors 
and should annually attend training on corporate governance. He/ she has, among others, the 
following duties and responsibilities: 
 

a. Ensures proper onboarding of new directors (i.e., orientation on the company’s 
business, charter, articles of incorporation and by-laws, among others); 

 
b. Monitors, reviews, evaluates and ensures the compliance by the corporation, its 

officers and directors with the relevant laws, this Code, rules and regulations and all 
governance issuances of regulatory agencies; 

 
c. Reports the matter to the Board if violations are found and recommends the 

imposition of appropriate disciplinary action; 
 

d. Ensures the integrity and accuracy of all documentary submissions to regulators; 
 

e. Appears before the SEC when summoned in relation to compliance with this Code; 
 



f. Collaborates with other departments to properly address compliance issues, which 
may be subject to investigation; 

 
g. Identifies possible areas of compliance issues and works towards the resolution of the 

same; 
 

h. Ensures the attendance of board members and key officers to relevant trainings; and 
 

i. Performs such other duties and responsibilities as may be provided by the SEC. (As 
amended by the Board of Directors on 5 October 2018 and by the Stockholders owning at least 
two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on •) 

 
Section 8. Chief Audit Executive – There shall be a Chief Audit Executive appointed 

by the Board, who shall oversee and be responsible for the internal audit activity of the 
Corporation, including that portion that is outsourced to a third party service provider. The 
Chief Audit Executive has the following responsibilities, among others: 
 

a. Periodically reviews the internal audit charter and presents it to senior management 
and the Board Audit Committee for approval; 
 

b. Establishes a risk-based internal audit plan, including policies and procedures, to 
determine the priorities of the internal audit activity, consistent with the 
organization’s goals; 
 

c. Communicates the internal audit activity’s plans, resource requirements and impact 
of resource limitations, as well as significant interim changes, to senior management 
and the Audit Committee for review and approval; 
 

d. Spearheads the performance of the internal audit activity to ensure it adds value to 
the organization; 
 

e. Reports periodically to the Audit Committee on the internal audit activity’s 
performance relative to its plan; and 
 

f. Presents findings and recommendations to the Audit Committee and gives advice to 
senior management and the Board on how to improve internal processes. (As amended 
by the Board of Directors on 5 October 2018 and by the Stockholders owning at least two-thirds 
(2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on •) 

 
Section 9. Chief Risk Officer – There shall be a Chief Risk Officer with the following 

functions, among others: 
 

a. Supervises the entire Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) process and spearheads the 
development, implementation, maintenance and continuous improvement of ERM 
processes and documentation; 
 

b. Communicates the top risks and the status of implementation of risk management 
strategies and action plans to the Board Risk Oversight Committee; 



 
c. Collaborates with the CEO in updating and making recommendations to the Board 

Risk Oversight Committee; 
 

d. Suggests ERM policies and related guidance, as may be needed; and 
 

e. Provides insights on the following: 

 Risk management processes are performing as intended; 

 Risk measures reported are continuously reviewed by risk owners for 
effectiveness; and 

 Established risk policies and procedures are being complied with. (As amended 
by the Board of Directors on 5 October 2018 and by the Stockholders owning at least 
two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on •) 

 
Section 10. Terms of Office - The term of office of all officers shall be one (1) year 

and until their successors are duly elected and qualified. (As amended by the Board of Directors on 
5 October 2018 and by the Stockholders owning at least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock 
on •) 

 
Section 11.  Vacancies - If any position of the officers becomes vacant by reason of 

death, resignation, disqualification or for any other cause, the Board of Directors, by majority 
vote may elect a successor who shall hold office for the unexpired term. (As amended by the Board 
of Directors on 5 October 2018 and by the Stockholders owning at least two-thirds (2/3) of the 
outstanding capital stock on •) 

 
Section 12.  Compensation - The officers shall receive such remuneration as the Board 

of Directors may determine. A director shall not be precluded from serving the corporation in 
any other capacity as an officer, agent or otherwise, and from receiving compensation therefore. 
(As amended by the Board of Directors on 5 October 2018 and by the Stockholders owning at least two-
thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock on •) 
 
 

ARTICLE V 
 

OFFICES 
 

Section 1. The Principal office of the corporation shall be located at the place stated in 
Article III of the Articles of Incorporation. The corporation may have such other branch offices, 
either within or outside the Philippines as the Board of Directors may designate. 
 

ARTICLE VI 
 

AUDIT OF BOOKS, FISCAL YEAR AND DIVIDENDS 
 

Section 1.  External Auditor - At the regular stockholders’ meeting, the external 
auditor of the corporation for the ensuing year shall be appointed. The external auditor shall 
examine, verify and report on the earnings and expenses of the corporation. 



 
Section 2.  Fiscal Year - The fiscal year of the corporation shall begin on the first day 

of January and end on the last day of December of each year. 
 

Section 3.  Dividends - Dividends shall be declared and paid out of the unrestricted 
retained earnings which shall be payable in cash, property, or stock to all stockholders on the 
basis of outstanding stock held by them, as often and at such times as the Board of Directors 
may determine and in accordance with law. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
 

SEAL 
 

Section 1.  Forms and Inscriptions- The corporate seal shall be determined by the 
Board of Directors. 

 
 
 
 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

AMENDMENTS 
 

Section 1. These by-laws may be amended or repeated by the affirmative vote of at least 
a majority of the Board of Directors and the stockholders representing a majority of the 
outstanding capital stock at any stockholders’ meeting called for that purpose. However, the 
power to amend, modify, repeal or adopt new by-laws may be delegated to the Board of 
Directors by the affirmative vote of stockholders representing not less than two- thirds of the 
outstanding capital stock; provided, however, that any such delegation of powers to the Board 
of Directors to amend, repeal or adopt new by-laws may be revoked only by the vote of 
stockholders representing a majority of the outstanding capital stock at a regular or special 
meeting. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we the undersigned stockholders have adopted the foregoing 

by-laws and hereunto affixed our signatures this 01 October 2001 at Makati City. 
 
 
 
 

(original signed) 
Mario M. Tongson 

(original signed) 
Sharone O. King 

 
 

(original signed) 
Dominador R. Aytona 

 
 

(original signed) 
Lorna P. Pangilinan 

 



 
 

(original signed) 
Ma. Paz I. Diokno 

 
 

(original signed) 
Fernando P. Go 

 
 

(original signed) 
Valentin M. Panaguiton 

 
 
 

Signed in the presence of 
 
 
                       (illegible)      (illegible) 
 
_______________________________  ________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES) 
CITY OF MAKATI  )S.S. 
 
 
 
 
Before me, a Notary Public, in and for the City of Makati, Philippines, this 01 day 

October 2001, personally appeared: 
 
 
NAME      CTC No.  DATE AND PLACE ISSUED 
Mario M. Tongson 
Sharone O. King 
Dominador R. Aytona 
Lorna P. Pangilinan 
Ma. Paz I. Diokno 
Fernando P. Go 
Valentin M. Panaguiton 
 
 
All known to me and to me known to be the same persons who executed the foregoing Articles 
of Incorporation and acknowledgment that the same is their free and voluntary act and deed 
and of the corporation which he represents. 
 
IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my notarial seal on the 
date and place first above written. 

David I. Del Castillo




 
 
         NOTARY PUBLIC 
 
         MICHAEL REX O. CELIX 
         Notary Public 
         Until December 31, 2001 
         Issued on Jan. 2, 2001 
         Issued at Makati City 
 
Doc. No. 87; 
Page No. 18; 
Book No. XII; 
Series of 2001. 
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3 | P a g e  
Ferronoux Holdings, Inc. 
Information Statement 

 
 

FERRONOUX HOLDINGS, INC.  
(formerly, AG FINANCE INCORPORATED) 

INFORMATION SHEET 
 

A. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 1. Date, Time & Place of Meeting of Security Holders 
a.  Date: December 3, 2018 

Time: 1:00 pm 
Place: Kalayaan 3, Club Filipino, Club Filipino Avenue corner Eisenhower Street, 

Greenhills, San Juan City, Metro Manila 
 
b.  complete mailing address  

of principal office:  6th Floor, Hanston Building, F. Ortigas, Jr. 
Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City 

 
c.  approximate date on which the Information  
     Statement is first to be sent or given to  
     security holders:    November 9, 2018 

 
 

WE ARE NOT ASKING YOU FOR A PROXY AND 
YOU ARE REQUESTED NOT TO SEND US A PROXY 

 
Item 2. Dissenters’ Right of Appraisal 
 
There are no matters to be acted upon at the meeting involving instances set forth in the 
Corporation Code of the Philippines for which a stockholder may exercise the right of 
appraisal. 
 
Pursuant to Section 81 Title X, Appraisal Right of the Corporation Code of the Philippines, 
any stockholder of a corporation shall have the right to dissent and demand payment of the 
fair value of his shares in the following instances: (a) in case of any amendment to the articles 
of incorporation that has the effect of changing or restricting the rights of any stockholder or 
class of shares, or authorizing preferences in any respect superior to those of outstanding 
shares of any class, or extending or shortening the term of corporate existence; (b) in case of 
sale, lease, exchange, transfer, mortgage, pledge or other disposition of all or substantially all 
of the corporate property and assets, and (c) in case of merger or consolidation. 
 
Section 82 of the Corporation Code also provides that, this appraisal right may be exercised 
by any stockholder who shall have voted against the proposed action, by making a written 
demand on the corporation within thirty (30) days after the date on which the vote was taken 
for payment of the fair value of his shares.  Failure to make the demand within such period 
shall be deemed a waiver of the appraisal right. If the proposed action is implemented or 
affected, the corporation shall pay to such stockholder, upon surrender of the certificate or 
certificates of stock representing his shares, the value thereof as of the day prior to the date on 
which the vote was taken, excluding ay appreciation or depreciation in anticipation of such 
corporate action. 
 
If within a period of sixty (60) days from the date the corporate action was approved by the 
stockholders, the withdrawing stockholder and the corporation cannot agree on the value of 
the shares, it shall be determined and appraised by three (3) disinterested persons, one of 
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whom shall be named by the stockholder, another by the corporation, and the third by the 
two thus chosen. The findings of the majority of the appraisers shall be final, and their award 
shall be paid by the corporation within thirty (30) days after such award is made. No payment 
shall be made to the dissenting stockholder unless the bank has unrestricted retained earnings 
in its book to cover such payment. Upon payment by the Corporation of the agreed or 
awarded price, the stockholder shall forthwith transfer his shares to the Corporation. 
 
From the time of demand for payment of the fair value of a stockholder’s shares until either 
the abandonment of the corporate action involved or the purchase of the said shares by the 
corporation, all rights accruing to such shares, including voting and dividend right, shall be 
suspended, except the right of such stockholder to receive payment of the fair value thereof: 
Provided, that it the dissenting stockholder is not paid the value of his shares within 30 days 
after the award , his voting right and dividend rights shall immediately be restored (Section 
83 of the Corporation Code). 
 
Within ten (10) days after demanding payment of his shares, a dissenting stockholder shall 
submit the certificate(s) of stock representing his shares to the Corporation for notation 
thereon that such shares are dissenting shares. His failure to do so shall, at the option of the 
Corporation, terminate his appraisal right. (Section 86, Corporation Code). No demand for 
payment as aforesaid may be withdrawn by the dissenting stockholder unless the Corporation 
consents thereto (Section 84, Corporation Code). 
 
The appraisal right shall be exercised in accordance with Title X of the Corporation Code. 
 
Item 3. Interest of Certain Persons in or Opposition to Matters to be acted upon 
 
There is no substantial interest, direct or indirect, by security holders or otherwise, of each of 
the following persons in any matter to be acted upon, other than the election to office: 
 

1. Each person who has been a director or officer of the registrant at any time since the 
beginning of the last fiscal year: 

2. Each nominee for election as a director of the registrant; 
3. Each associate of any of the foregoing persons. 

 
There is no director of the registrant who has informed the company in writing that he intends 
to oppose any action to be taken by the registrant at the meeting and indicated the action 
which he intends to oppose.  
 

B. CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 
 

Item 4. Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof 
 
(a) Voting Securities 
 
As of 30 September 2018, 261,824,002 Common shares are outstanding, and are entitled to be 
represented and vote at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting.  Each share is entitled to one vote. 
 
(b) Record Date 
 
Only stockholders of record as of 22 October 2018 shall be entitled to notice and vote at the 
meeting. 
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 (c) Action with Respect to the election of Directors 
 
The election of the board of directors for the current fiscal year will be taken up and all 
stockholders have the right to cumulate their votes in favor of their chosen nominees for 
director in accordance with Section 24 of the Corporation Code. Section 24 provides that a 
stockholder, may vote such number of shares registered in his name as of the record date for 
as many persons as there are directors to be elected or he may cumulate said shares and give 
one candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied by the number 
of his shares shall equal, or he may distribute them on the same principle among as many 
candidates as he shall see fit. The total number of votes cast by such stockholder should not 
exceed the number of shares owned by him as shown in the books of the corporation 
multiplied by the whole number of directors to be elected. 
 
Manner of Voting 
 
The By-Laws of the Company provides that every stockholder shall be entitled to vote in 
person or by proxy, for each share of stock held by him which has voting power upon the 
matter in question.  The votes for the election of directors, and, except upon demand by any 
stockholder, the votes upon any question before the meeting, except with respect to the 
procedural questions determined by the chairman of the meeting, shall be by viva voce or 
show of hands.   
 
(d) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners and Management  
 

(1)  Owners of more than 5% of voting securities as of 30 September 2018 
 

Title of 
Class 

Name , address of 
record owner and 
relationship with 

Issuer 
 

Name of 
Beneficial 
Owner & 

Relationship 
with Record 

Owner 
 

Citizen-
ship 

No. of 
Shares Held 

Percent  

Common 
 

PCD NOMINEE 
CORPORATION1 
- Tower 1 – 

Ayala Triangle 
Makati 
Avenue cor.  
Paseo de Roxas 
Makati City 

- Registered 
owner in the 
books of stock 
transfer agent  

ISOC 
HOLDINGS, 
INC. (“ISOC”) 
6th Floor, Hanston 
Building, F. 
Ortigas, Jr. Road, 
Ortigas Center, 
Pasig City 

 

Filipino 175,422,075 
(Direct) 

66.99% 

                                                             
1    PCD Nominee Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Philippine Central Depository, Inc (“PCD”) is the registered 
owner of the shares in the books of the Company’s transfer agents in the Philippines.  The beneficial owners of such shares are 
PCD’s participants, who hold the shares on behalf of their clients.  PCD is a private company organized by the major 
institutions actively participating in the Philippine capital markets to implement an automated book-entry system of handling 
securities transactions in the Philippines. Please see PDTC Report as of September 30, 2018 attached hereto. 
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Common PCD NOMINEE 
CORPORATION 
- Tower 1 – 

Ayala Triangle 
Makati 
Avenue cor.  
Paseo de Roxas 
Makati City 

- Registered 
owner in the 
books of stock 
transfer agent 

F. YAP 
SECURITIES, 
INC. 2 
17th Floor Lepanto 
Bldg., Paseo de 
Roxas, Makati 
1226, Philippines 

Filipino 25,171,200 9.61% 

 
Other than the persons identified above, there are no beneficial owners of more than 5% 

of the Company’s outstanding capital stock that are known to the Company.  
 
Mr. Michael C. Cosiquien as Chairman of ISOC shall represent and vote the shares held 

by ISOC in the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting.  
 
(2) Security Ownership of Management 
 
The following is a summary of the aggregate shareholdings of the Company‘s directors 
and executive officers in the Company and the percentage of their shareholdings as of 30 
September 2018: 
 

 
Title of 
Class 
 

 
Name of Beneficial 
Owner  

 
Amount and nature of 
ownership (Indicate record 
(“r”) and/or beneficial (“b”) 
 

 
 Citizenship 

 
 Percent of 
Class 

Common Michael C. Cosiquien 
Chairman/President 

1 –  “R” (direct) 
175,422,075 - “B” (indirect)* 

Filipino 66.99% 
 

Common Jesus G. Chua, Jr. 
Director 

1 – “R” (direct) 
0 – “B” (indirect) 

Filipino 0.00% 
 

Common Irving C. Cosiquien 
Director 

1 – “R” (direct) 
0 – “B” (indirect) 

Filipino 0.00% 
0.00% 

Common Yerik C. Cosiquien 
Director 

1 – “R” (direct) 
0 – “B” (indirect) 

Filipino 0.00% 
0.00% 

Common Michelle Joan G. Tan 
Director 

1 – “R” (direct) 
0 – “B” (indirect) 

Filipino 0.00% 
0.00% 

Common Alfred S. Jacinto 
Independent Director 

1 – “R” (direct) 
0 – “B” (indirect) 

Filipino 0.00% 
0.00% 

Common Matthew-John G. 
Almogino 
Independent Director 

1,000 – “R” (direct) 
0 - “B” (indirect) 

Filipino 0.00% 
0.00% 

Common Allesandra Fay V. 
Albarico 

0 - “R” (direct)  
0 - “B” (indirect) 

 

Filipino 0.00% 

                                                             
2    F. Yap Securities, Inc. is a corporation engaged in stock brokerage and is one of the market participants of the shares lodged 
with the PCD Nominee Corporation. The beneficial owners of the shares held by F. Yap Securities, Inc. do not own more than 
5% of the voting securities in the Company. Thus, there is no single natural person holding more than 5% of the voting 
securities held by F. Yap Securities, Inc. in the Company. 
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Compliance Officer 
and  Corporate 
Information Officer 
and System 
Administrator for 
PSE 

Common Erwin Terrell Y. Sy 
Treasurer/CFO 

0 -  “R” (direct)  
0 - “B” (indirect) 

Filipino 0.00% 
0.00% 

Common Manuel Z. Gonzalez 
Corporate Secretary 

0 - “R” (direct) 
0 - “B” (indirect) 

Filipino 0.00% 
0.00% 

Common Gwyneth S. Ong 
Assistant Corporate 
Secretary 

0 - “R” (direct)  
0 - “B” (indirect) 

Filipino 0.00% 

     
 
 

TOTAL   1,006 ”R” (direct)                                 
  175,422,075 “B” (indirect) 

0.00%       
66.99%   

*through ISOC Holdings, Inc.  
 

(3) Voting Trust Holders of 5% or More 
 

There is no voting trust or similar arrangement executed among holders of five percent 
(5%) or more of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of the Company. 

 
(4) Changes in Control 
 
On November 27, 2017, ISOC Holdings Inc. entered into an agreement with RYM Business 
Management Corporation (“RYM”) for the purchase of RYM’s 175,422,081 common shares 
in the Company equivalent to 67% interest at PhP 2.1662 per share or a total amount of 
approximately PhP 380.0M. A mandatory tender offer was conducted for the benefit of 
the minority shareholders and the same was completed on January 3, 2018. Thus, the 
shares were crossed via the facilities of the Philippine Stock Exchange on January 4, 2018. 

 
Below is the breakdown of AG Finance Inc. shares held by foreign and local 
stockholders as of 30 September 2018: 
 

 Number Percentage 
Foreign Shares 58,111 0.0222% 
Local Shares 261,765,891 99.9778% 
Total Shares (Common) 261,824,002 100.00% 

 
Item 5. Directors & Executive Officers 
 
Except in cases where a higher vote is required under the Corporation Code, the approval of 
any corporate action shall require the majority vote of all the stockholders present in the 
meeting, if constituting a quorum.  
 
Except in cases where voting by ballot is applicable, voting and counting shall be viva voce.  
If by ballot, the counting shall be supervised by the external auditors and transfer agent of the 
Company. 
 
At all meeting of the stockholders, a stockholder may vote in person or by proxy. Unless 
otherwise provided, the proxy shall be valid only for the meeting at which it has been 
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presented to the Secretary. All proxies must be in the hands of the Secretary at least ten (10) 
days before the time set for the meeting. Such proxies filed with the Secretary may be revoked 
by the stockholders either in an instrument in writing duly presented and recorded with the 
Secretary prior to a scheduled meeting or by their personal presence at the meeting. (Section 
7, By-Laws). 
 
(1) Board of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
The Board of Directors of the Company consists of seven (7) members and shall hold office 
for a term of one year, or upon the election of its successors. The Board is responsible for the 
Company’s overall mission, vision and strategy, management of the Company, and the 
preservation of the Company’s assets and properties. For a person to be eligible to be elected 
as a director of the Company, it is necessary that he or she is a registered owner of at least one 
(1) voting share of the Company. 
 
The members of the Company’s Board until January 10, 2018 are as follows: 
 

Name Office Age Citizenship Term of Office No. of 
years 

served 
Isidro C. Alcantara, 
Jr.* 

Chairman/ 
President 

61 Filipino Since June 25, 
2015 until 
January 10, 2018 

More 
than a 
year 

Anthony M. Te* 
 

Vice Chairman 45 Filipino Since June 25, 
2015  until 
January 10, 2018 

More 
than a 
year 

Ge Lin (a.k.a Gery 
Lam)* 

Independent 
Director** 

 Chinese Since June 25, 
2015  until 
January 10, 2018 

More 
than a 
year 

Remegio C. 
Dayandayan* 

Director 35 Filipino Since December 
17, 2016  until 
January 10, 2018 
 

Less 
than a 
year 

Hermogene H. 
Real* 

Director 60 Filipino Since December 
23, 2016  until 
January 10, 2018 
 

Less 
than a 
year 

Diane Madelyn C. 
Ching* 

Corporate 
Secretary 
Compliance 
Officer and  
Corporate 
Information 
Officer and System 
Administrator for 
PSE 

34 Filipino Since June 25, 
2015  until 
January 10, 2018 

More 
than a 
year 

Rolando S. Santos* Director/Treasurer 66 Filipino Since June 25, 
2015  until 
January 10, 2018 
 

More 
than a 
year 

Reuben F. 
Alcantara* 

VP Marketing 34 Filipino  Since December 
17, 2015  until 
January 10, 2018 

Less 
than 
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* in view of ISOC Holdings, Inc.’s purchase of  RYM’s 175,422,081 common shares equivalent 
to 67% interest in the Company, the following directors and/or officers resigned during the 
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors held on January 10, 2018. 
** independent director — the Company has complied with the Guidelines set forth by SRC 
Rule 38, as amended, regarding the Nomination and Election of Independent Director. The 
Company’s By-Laws incorporate the procedures for the nomination and election of 
independent director/s in accordance with the requirements of the said Rule. 
 
Following the foregoing resignations of the previous directors and officers of the Company, 
the vacancies were filled in, while maintaining a duly constituted quorum at all times,  by the 
vote of at least a majority of the remaining directors. The following directors were elected on 
January 10, 2018.  
 
The Company’s incumbent Directors and officers, elected on January 10, 2018 are as follows: 
 

* Atty. Almogino was elected as an Independent Director during the Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting held last December 11, 2017 
** independent director — the Company has complied with the Guidelines set forth by SRC 
Rule 38, as amended, regarding the Nomination and Election of Independent Director. The 

Leddie D. Gutierrez* VP Internal Audit 53 Filipino Since June 25, 
2015  until 
January 10, 2018 

Less 
than a 
year 

Name Office Age Citizenship Date Elected No. of 
years 

served 
Michael C. 
Cosiquien 

Chairman/ President 45 Filipino Jan. 10, 2018 Less 
than one 
year 

Jesus G. Chua, Jr. Vice-Chairman/ 
Director 

43 Filipino Jan. 10, 2018 Less 
than one 
year 

Yerik C. Cosiquien Director 39 Filipino Jan. 10, 2018  
Irving C. Cosiquien Director 46 Filipino Jan. 10, 2018 Less 

than one 
year 

Michelle Joan G. 
Tan 

Director 38 Filipino Jan. 10, 2018 Less 
than one 
year 

Matthew-John G. 
Almogino* 

Independent Director** 49 Filipino Dec. 11, 2017 Less 
than one 
year  

Alfred S. Jacinto Independent Director 50 Filipino Jan. 10, 2018 Less 
than one 
year 

Erwin Terrell Y. Sy Treasurer/Chief 
Financial Officer 

31 Filipino Jan. 10, 2018 Less 
than one 
year 

Allesandra Fay V. 
Albarico 

Compliance Officer/ 
Chief Information 
Officer 

34 Filipino Jan. 10, 2018 Less 
than one 
year 

Manuel Z. 
Gonzalez 

Corporate Secretary 53 Filipino Jan. 10, 2018 Less 
than one 
year 

Gwyneth S. Ong Assistant Corporate 
Secretary 

41 Filipino Jan. 10, 2018 Less 
than one 
year 
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Company’s By-Laws incorporate the procedures for the nomination and election of 
independent director/s in accordance with the requirements of the said Rule. 
 
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 
The following are the business experiences and positions held by the Directors and Executive 
Officers for the past five (5) years: 
 
INCUMBENT DIRECTORS 
 
Mr. Michael C. Cosiquien was elected Chairman of the Board in January 10, 2018. He is 
currently the Chairman of ISOC Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries. He served as the 
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and director of Megawide Construction Corp. He has 
provided superior leadership in all aspects of the business as Chief Executive Officer of 
Megawide. Mr. Cosiquien holds a degree in Civil Engineering from the De La Salle University, 
and is a licensed Civil Engineer with over 20 years of professional engineering experience. 
 
Mr. Jesus G. Chua, Jr. was elected as Vice-Chairman of the Board in January 10, 2018. He is 
currently the President of ISOC Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries. He served as the Chief 
Strategy officer for Megawide Construction Corp.  He has served as Head of Southeast Asia 
Investment Banking at MUFG Financial Group, Singapore and has held senior roles at ABN 
AMRO/RBS in Hongkong, HSBC in New York. Mr. Chua graduated with an MBA from 
Harvard University and has studied at Stanford University and De La Salle University prior 
to that.  
 
Mr. Yerik C. Cosiquien was elected as a Director of the Board in January 10, 2018. He is 
currently a Director and corporate secretary of ISOC Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries.  He 
served as Director and Corporate Secretary of Megawide Construction Corp. He is also the 
General Manager of Cosmo Fortune Corp. and Senior Vice President of United Pacific Rise 
Corp. He is a Psychology and Economics graduate from the University of British Columbia.  
 
Mr. Irving C. Cosiquien was elected as a Director of the Board in January 10, 2018. He is 
currently a director of ISOC Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries. He served as director and 
treasurer of Megawide Construction Corp. He is the Corporate Secretary at United Pacific Rise 
Corp. and has served as the General Manager of Megapolitan Marketing, Incorporated. He 
obtained his Bachelor of Science degree in Industrial Psychology from the De La Salle 
University. 
 
Ms. Michelle  Joan G. Tan was elected as a Director of the Board in January 10, 2018. She is a 
sub-contractor of Megawide Construction Corporation, one of the prestigious construction 
companies in our land today, for almost seven years. She has assisted in deploying skilled and 
non-skilled workers, screening qualified, efficient and effective employees and handles labor 
cases as well. In addition, she was a former Banker of United Coconut Planters Bank as 
Assistant Branch Manager for almost five years. Graduated Bachelor of Science Major in 
Business and Marketing Management at College of the Holy Spirit. 
 
Atty. Mathew John G. Almogino was elected as an Independent Director in December 11, 
2017. Atty. Almogino is a lawyer specializing in corporate law and commercial litigation, and 
has previously served as a member of the board of directors of several corporations engaged 
in various industries such as transportation, construction, and real estate. He is currently the 
General Counsel of Nippon Express Philippines Corporation, a multinational corporation 
with headquarters in Tokyo, Japan and which conducts business operations in 698 locations 
in 44 countries, specializing in global logistics, including international freight forwarding 
using multimodal transport, storage, and inventory management.  Atty. Almogino was also a 
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former Senior Associate with Ocampo and Manalo Law Firm, a firm ranked by AsiaLaw, the 
Legal 500 and WorldLaw as one of the leaders in various practice areas such as corporate law, 
telecommunications and media, transportation, litigation and dispute resolution, and labor 
and employment. He obtained his Bachelor of Arts from De La Salle University with a Major 
in Political Science and Minor in History, and his Bachelor of Laws from the San Sebastian 
College-Recoletos Institute of Law, where he also lectured on various subjects on Corporate 
Law after passing the Bar Examinations. 
 
Atty. Alfred S. Jacinto was elected as a Director of the Board in January 10, 2018. Atty. Jacinto 
was admitted to the bar in 1994. He graduated with a degree in Bachelor of Science major in 
Mathematics and Bachelor of Laws in the University of the Philippines with a College and 
National Science and Technology Authority Scholarship.  Atty. Jacinto started as an associate 
at the Pecabar Law Offices in 1993. He was a partner of the Ata Jacinto & Montales Law Offices 
before joining the Cayetano Sebastian (CASELAW) Law Offices in 2001. He is currently the 
Managing Director of CASELAW. His practice areas include litigation, energy, information 
technology, real estate, immigration, corporate and tax. Atty. Jacinto also served as consultant 
to the Joint Congressional Power Commission, Joint Congressional Oversight Committee on 
the Clean Water Act and the Office of Senator Pilar Cayetano. 
 
 
KEY OFFICERS 
 
INCUMBENT OFFICERS 
 
Mr. Erwin Terrell Y. Sy was elected Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer in January 10, 2018. 
Mr. Sy brings to ISOC over eight (8) years of Investment Banking experience covering multiple 
jurisdictions, raising both equity, quasi-entity and senior debt for multinational companies. 
Prior to joining ISOC, he was a Principal at Fortman Cline Capital Markets, where he led deal 
teams in several marquee Philippine M&A deals totaling over US$3.0 Billion in the energy, 
infrastructure and logistics sectors. He is an honors graduate of the BS Management-Honors 
program of the Ateneo de Manila University. 
  
Atty. Allesandra Fay V. Albarico was elected Compliance Officer/ Chief Information Officer 
in January 10, 2018. She was an Executive Assistant and Court Attorney at the Court of 
Appeals, Pre-test Lawyer for the 2011 Bar Examinations (Supreme Court-Office of the 
Chairman), Associate at Dato Inciong & Associates, Legal Manager at Citicore Power Inc., and 
Legal Counsel at Megawide Construction Corporation. Atty. Albarico holds a degree in 
Bachelor of Arts major in Legal Management (university scholar). She passed the 2010 
Philippine bar examinations and was admitted to the Bar the following year. She likewise 
holds a postgraduate law degree (LL.M.) and diploma in Leadership and Management 
Development Program. She is currently pursuing a doctorate degree in Civil Law.  
 
Atty. Manuel Z. Gonzalez was elected Corporate Secretary in January 10, 2018. He is a Senior 
Partner in the Martinez Vergara Gonzalez & Serrano Law Office since 2006 up to the present. 
Atty. Gonzalez was formerly a partner with the Picazo Buyco Tan Fider & Santos Law Office 
until 2006. He has been involved in corporate practice and has extensive experience in 
securities, banking and finance law. She serves as Director and Corporate Secretary to many 
corporations including to companies in the Century Pacific Group since 1995, Nomura 
Securities Philippines since 2006 and ADP Philippines, Inc. since 2010.  Atty. Gonzalez 
graduated with honors and obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree in Political Science and 
Economics from New York University and he has also received a Bachelor of Laws from the 
University of the Philippines, College of Law. 
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Atty. Gwyneth S. Ong was elected Assistant Corporate Secretary in January 10, 2018. Atty. 
Ong is a Partner at Martinez Vergara Gonzalez and Serrano Law Office from 2015 up to the 
present, with extensive experience in a broad range of securities and capital market 
transactions. She graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree in Management major in Legal 
Management from the Ateneo de Manila University and a Bachelor of Laws degree from the 
University of the Philippines. 
 
(2) Nomination Committee and Nominees for Election as Members of the Board of 

Directors 
 
The Nomination Committee is composed of Atty. Alfred S. Jacinto, Mr. Yerik C. Cosiquien 
and Mr. Irving Cosiquien. 
  
The Company’s Nomination Committee pre-screened and accepted the nominations for the 
following directors in accordance with the criteria provided in the SRC, the Company’s 
Manual of Corporate Governance and the Company’s By-Laws: 
 
Regular Directors: 
 

1. Michael C. Cosiquien 
2. Jesus G. Chua, Jr. 
3. Yerik C. Cosiquien 
4. Irving C. Cosiquien 
5. Michelle Joan G. Tan 
6. Erwin Terrell Y. Sy 
 

Independent Directors: 
 

1. Atty. Mathew John G. Almogino	
2. Atty. Alfred S. Jacinto	

	
	

Atty. Almogino and Atty. Jacinto were nominated by Mr. Michael C. Cosiquien. Atty. 
Almogino and Atty. Jacinto are neither related to Mr. Cosiquien, nor to each other.  
 
Term of Office of a Director 
 
Except for Mr. Erwin Terrell Y. Sy, who is currently an officer of the Company, whose election 
will only become effective after the SEC approves the amendment increasing the number of 
board seats from seven (7) to nine (9), the directors will hold office upon election until the next 
annual election and until his/her successor is duly elected, unless he/she resigns, dies or is 
removed from office.  
 
Mr. Erwin Terrell Y. Sy is a new nominee for director. 
 
Mr. Erwin Terrell Y. Sy was elected Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company in 
January 10, 2018. Mr. Sy has over eight (8) years of investment banking experience covering 
multiple jurisdictions, raising both equity, quasi-entity and senior debt for multinational 
companies. Prior to joining ISOC, he was a Principal at Fortman Cline Capital Markets, where 
he led deal teams in several marquee Philippine mergers and acquisition deals totaling over 
US$3.0 Billion in the energy, infrastructure and logistics sectors. He is an honors graduate of 
the BS Management-Honors program of the Ateneo de Manila University. 
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 (3) Independent Directors 
 

The following are the nominees for independent directors of the Company: 
 
1. Atty. Matthew-John G. Almogino 
2. Atty. Alfred S. Jacinto 

 
Atty. Almogino possessed all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications as 
independent director since his election in December 11, 2018. Atty. Jacinto possessed all the 
qualifications and none of the disqualification as independent director since his election in 
January 10, 2018. They are not employees of the Company and do not have relationship with 
the Company which would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying 
out the responsibility of a director. 

 
Atty. Almogino and Atty. Jacinto were nominated by Mr. Michael C. Cosiquien. The 
nominator is not related to the persons he has nominated for independent director. 
 
The term of office of all directors, including independent directors shall be one (1) year until 
their successors are duly elected and qualified. 
 
The Certifications of Qualification for the Independent Director of Atty. Almogino and Atty. 
Jacinto are attached herewith. 
 
In accordance with SEC Memorandum Circular No.4 Series of 2017, both Independent 
Directors (ID) have not exceeded the maximum cumulative term of nine (9) years.   
Furthermore, the Company understands that after a term of (9) years, the independent 
director shall be perpetually barred from re-election as such in the same company, but may 
continue to qualify as a non-independent director. At the instance that a company wants to 
retain an independent director who has served for nine (9) years, the Board should provide 
meritorious justification/s and seek shareholders’ approval during the annual shareholders’ 
meeting; and Reckoning of the cumulative nine-year term is from 2012. 
 
The Company has amended its By-laws incorporating the provisions of SRC Rule 38, as 
amended, on March 13, 2013 which has been duly approved by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on 21 May 2013.  
 
(4) Significant Employees 
 
No single person is expected to make a significant contribution to the business since the 
Company considers the collective efforts of ail its employees as instrumental to the success of 
the Company. 
 
(5)  Family Relationships 
 
Mr. Michael C. Cosiquien, the present Chairman and President of the Company is the 
brother of Mr. Yerik C. Cosiquien and Mr. Irving C. Cosiquien, who are Directors of the 
Company. Ms. Michelle Joan G. Tan is the sister-in-law of Mr. Michael C. Cosiquien. Other 
than the ones disclosed, there are no other family relationships known to the registrant. 
 
(6)  Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings 
 
To the knowledge of the Company, there has been no occurrence of any of the following 
events during the past five (5) years up to latest date that are material to an evaluation of the 
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ability and integrity of any director, any person nominated to become director, executive 
officer or control person of the Company: 
 

1. Any insolvency or bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of 
which such person was a general partner or executive officer whether at the 
time of insolvency or within two (2) years prior to that time; 
 

2. Any conviction by final judgment in a criminal proceeding, domestic or 
foreign, in any pending criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, excluding 
traffic violations and other minor offenses;  

 
3. Any final and executory order, judgment or decree of any court of competent 

jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily, enjoining, 
barring, suspending or otherwise limiting involvement in any type of business, 
securities, commodities or banking activities; and 

 
4. Any final and executory judgment by a domestic or foreign court or competent 

jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC, or comparable foreign body, or domestic 
or foreign exchange or electronic marketplace or self-regulatory organization, 
for violation of a securities or commodities law. 

 
There are no legal proceedings to which the Company or its subsidiary or any of their 
properties is involved in or subject to any legal proceedings which would have material effect 
adverse effect on the business or financial position of the Company or its subsidiary. 
 
(7)  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

 
The Company, in the normal course of business, may enter into transaction with related 
parties; however, the Company does not have any material related party transaction for 2018. 
 
(8) Resignation or Refusal to Stand for Re-election by Members of the Board of 
Directors 
 
In view of ISOC Holdings Inc.’s purchase of RYM’s 175,422,081 common shares equivalent to 
67% interest in the Company, the following directors and/or officers resigned during the 
Special Meeting of the Board of Directors held on January 10, 2018: Mr. Isidro C. Alcantara, 
Jr., Mr. Anthony M. Te, Mr. Ge Lin (a.k.a Gery Lam), Atty. Remegio C. Dayandayan, Atty. 
Hermogene H. Real. 
 
Following the foregoing resignations of the previous directors and officers of the Company, 
the vacancies were filled in, while maintaining a duly constituted quorum at all times, by the 
vote of at least a majority of the remaining directors. The new directors were elected on 
January 10, 2018. 
 
ITEM 6.  COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 
(1)  Compensation Table 

 
The table below summarizes the aggregate compensation of the Company’s CEO and the four 
most highly compensated employees, as well as the aggregate compensation paid to all 
directors and officers as a group for the years 2015, 2016 and 2017. 
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Name and Principal 
Position 

Year Salary Bonuses Other 
Benefits 

Total 

CEO and Top 4 
Executive Officers, 
As a group named 

above 

2015 1,515,757 3,820,843 - 5,336,600 
2016 - - 199,673 199,673 
2017 - - 55,000 55,000 
2018 - - - - 
2019 

(estimate) 
- - - - 

 

All Other Officers 
and Directors, as a 
group unnamed 

2015 1,515,757 3,820,843 - 5,336,600 
2016 - - 140,850 140,850 
2017 - - 110,000 110,000 
2018 - - - - 
2019 

(estimate) 
- - - - 

 
The estimated compensation of the directors and officers for 2018 is nil.  For the ensuing year, 
the estimated compensation of the directors and officers is nil. The Company has minimal 
operations and engages consultants as necessary.  
 
(2) Compensation of Directors 
 
Standard Arrangement 
 
Other than payment of reasonable per diem as may be determined by the Board for every 
meeting, there are no standard arrangement pursuant to which directors of the company are 
compensated directly or indirectly, for any services provided as a director. 
 
Other Arrangement 
 
There are no other arrangements pursuant to which directors of the company are 
compensated directly or indirectly, for any services provided as a director. 
 
(3) Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change-in Control 

Arrangements 
 

There are no other special contracts of employment between the Company and the named 
directors and executive officers, as well as special compensatory plans or arrangements 
 
There are no arrangements for compensation to be received by the officers from the Company 
in the event of a change in control of the Company. 
 
 
ITEM 7. INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
 

a) Independent Public Accountants, Reyes Tacandong & Co. was nominated as the 
Corporation’s external auditors for the ensuing year which shall be subject to 
shareholders’ approval during the Annual Meeting. The Recommended partner –
in charge is Ms. Belinda Fernando. 
 

b) The 2016 – 2017 audit of the Company by Accountants, Reyes Tacandong & Co. 
(RTC) is in compliance with SRC Rule 68, Paragraph 3 (b) (iv) which provides that 
the external auditor should be rotated every five (5) years or earlier or the handling 
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partner shall be changed. At present, RTC’s account partner handling the 
Corporation is Ms. Belinda Fernando since 2015. She is due for rotation in 2020. A 
two year cooling off period shall be observed in the re-engagement of the same 
signing partner or individual. 

 
c) Representatives of RTC will be present during the annual meeting and will be 

given the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so.  They are also 
expected to respond to appropriate questions if needed. There was no event where 
RTC and the Company had any disagreement with regard to any matter relating 
to accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing 
scope or procedure.  Except as stated in the report of independent auditors, the 
Corporation has no disagreements with its auditors. 

 
The following are members of the Audit Committee: 
 
Atty. Matthew-John G. Almogino (Chairman) 
Mr. Jesus G. Chua (independent director) 
Ms. Michelle Joan G. Tan 
 
ITEM 8. COMPENSATION PLANS 
 
No action is proposed to be taken during the stockholders’ meeting with regard to any bonus, 
profit sharing, pension/retirement plan, granting of any extension of options, warrants or 
rights to purchase any securities. 
 
 

C. ISSUANCE AND EXCHANGE OF SECURITIES 
 
ITEM 9. AUTHORIZATION OR ISSUANCE OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN FOR 
EXCHANGE 
 
There are no matters or actions to be taken up in the meeting with respect to authorization or 
Issuance of securities. 
 
ITEM I0. MODIFICATION OR EXCHANGE OF SECURITIES 
 
There are no matters or actions to be taken up in the meeting with respect to the modification 
of any class of the Company's securities or the issuance of authorization for issuance of one 
class of the Company’s securities in exchange for outstanding securities of another class. 
 
ITEM 11. FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION 
 
The audited financial statements as of December 31, 2017, Management's Discussion and 
Analysis, Market Price of Shares and Dividends and other data related to the Company's 
financial information are attached hereto. 
 
The interim financial statements as of June 30, 2018 and other data related to the Company’s 
financial information are likewise attached hereto. 
 
ITEM 12. MERGERS, CONSOLIDATIONS, ACQUISITIONS AND SIMILAR MATTERS 
 
There are no matters or actions to be taken up in the meeting with respect to merger, 
consolidation, acquisition by, sale or liquidation of the Company. 
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ITEM 13. ACQUISITION OR DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY 
 
No action is to be taken with respect to acquisition or disposition of property. 
 
 
ITEM 14. RESTATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
The Company is not taking any action, which involves the restatement of any of its assets, 
capital, or surplus account. 
 

D. OTHER MATTERS 
 
ITEM I5. ACTION WITH RESPECT TO REPORTS 
 
The following matters shall be submitted to the vote of stockholders of the Company during 
the stockholders’ meeting.  
 

1.  Approval of the Minutes of the Previous Stockholders’ Meeting 
2. Approval of the Management Report and Audited Financial Statements  
3.  Approval of the Amendment of Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation  
4. Approval of the Amendment of the By-Laws of the Corporation 
5.  Ratification of Management’s Acts 
6.  Election of Directors.    
7.  Approval of appointment of Reyes Tacandong and Co. as the Company’s 

external auditor 
8.  Other Matters 
9.  Adjournment 

 
ITEM 16. MATTERS NOT REQUIRED TO BE SUBMITTED 
 
All corporate actions to be taken up at the annual stockholders’ meeting will be submitted to 
the stockholders of the Registrant for their approval in accordance with the requirements of 
the Corporation Code. 
 
Matters not required to be submitted are the Call to Order and Certification of Notice and 
Quorum. 
 
ITEM 17. AMENDMENT OF CHARTER, BY-LAWS OR OTHER DOCUMENTS 
 
Stockholders have the right to approve or disapprove any proposed amendments to the 
Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws of the Company.  
 
The Company is presenting to the Stockholders the approval of the amendment of the 
Company’s Articles of Incorporation to change the principal office from Metro Manila, 
Philippines to 6th Floor, Hanston Building, F. Ortigas, Jr. Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City and 
to increase the number of directors to nine (9), which shall affect the following provisions: 
 

1. Article THIRD – Changing the principal office of the Corporation from Metro 
Manila, Philippines to 6th Floor, Hanston Building, F. Ortigas, Jr. Road, Ortigas 
Center, Pasig City; and 
 

2. Article SIXTH – Increasing the number of directors to nine (9) members 
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The Company is also presenting to the Stockholders the approval of the amendment of the 
Company’s By-Laws, which shall amend the following provisions: 
 

1. Article III, Section 1-a – Increasing the number of directors to nine (9) members; 
2. Article III, Section 1-b - Modifying the qualifications for eligibility and designating 

a lead independent director 
3. Article III, Section 10 - Creating the Corporate Governance Committee which shall 

include the functions of the Nomination Committee 
4. Article III, Section 11 – Creating the Audit Committee 
5. Article III, Section 12 - Creating the Board Risk Oversight Committee 
6. Article III, Section 13 - Creating the Related Party Transaction Committee 
7. Article III, Section 14 – Renumbering the section on creation of other committees 
8. Article IV, Section 1 – Additional restriction on concurrently held positions 
9. Article IV, Section 5 – Modifying the qualifications and duties and responsibilities 

of the Corporate Secretary.  
10. Article IV, Section 7, 8 & 9 – Creating the positions of the Compliance Officer, Chief 

Audit Executive and Chief Risk Officer 
11. Article IV, Section 10, 11 & 12 – Renumbering sections on Term of Office, Vacancies 

and Compensation 
 
A copy of the proposed Amended Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws are attached hereto. 
 
ITEM 18. OTHER PROPOSED ACTIONS 
 
Other than the matters indicated in the Notice and Agenda included in this Information 
Statement, there are no other actions proposes to be taken at the annual meeting. 
 
ITEM 19. VOTING PROCEDURES 
 
Under the Corporation Code, the affirmative vote of stockholders representing at least two 
thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock of the Corporation shall be necessary for the 
approval of the proposed amendment to the Articles of incorporation of the Corporation. 
 
Except in cases where a higher vote is required under the Corporation Code, the approval of 
any corporate action shall require the majority vote of all the stockholders present in the 
meeting, it constituting a quorum. 
 
Except in cases where voting by ballot is applicable, voting and counting shall be viva voce.  
if by ballot, the counting shall be supervised by the external auditors and transfer agent of the 
Company.   
 
All proxies must be in the hands of the Secretary at least ten (10) days before the time set for 
the meeting. Such proxies filed with the Secretary may be revoked by the stockholders either 
in an instrument in writing duly presented and recorded with the Secretary prior to a 
scheduled meeting or their personal attendance at the meeting. (Section 7 of the By-Laws).  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



19 | P a g e  
Ferronoux Holdings, Inc. 
Information Statement 

UPON THE WRITTEN REQUEST OF THE STOCKHOLDER(S), THE CORPORATION 
UNDERTAKES TO FURNISH SAID STOCKHOLDER(S) WITH A COPY OF SEC FORM 
17-A, FREE OF CHARGE, EXCEPT FOR THE EXHIBIT ATTACHED THERETO, WHICH 
SHALL BE CHARGED AT A COST.  ANY WRITTEN REQUEST FOR A COPY OF SEC 
FORM 17-A SHALL BE ADDRESSED TO ATTY. ALLESANDRA FAY V. ALBARICO AT 
6TH FLOOR, HANSTON BUILDING, F. ORTIGAS, JR. ROAD, ORTIGAS CENTER, 
PASIG CITY 
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Ferronoux Holdings, Inc. 
 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 
Pursuant to SRC Rule 20 

 
For the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting 

On December 3, 2018 
 
 
I. Financial Statements 
 

The Audited Financial Statements of Ferronoux Holdings, Inc. (the Company) for the 
years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 are attached to this report. 

 
II. Information on Independent Accountants and other Related Matters 

  
The Company’s financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 have 
been audited by Reyes Tacandong & Co. (“RTC”), independent auditors, as stated in their 
reports appearing herein. 
 
Ms. Belinda B. Fernando is the Company’s current audit partner. We have not had any 
disagreements on accounting and financial disclosures with our current external auditors 
for the periods or any subsequent interim period. 
 
There were no disagreements with RTC on any matter of accounting and financial 
disclosure. 
 
The following table sets out the aggregate fees incurred for the years ended  
December 31, 2017 and 2016 for professional services rendered by RTC: 

 
 2017 2016 

Audit and Audit-Related Services ₱373,956 ₱677,600 
 
III. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

Operations 
 

The following discussion and analysis is based on the audited financial statements as at 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, prepared in conformity with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRS) and accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements and should be 
read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements. 
 
Summary Financial Information 
The financial statements as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016 are hereto attached. 
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The following table sets forth the summary financial information for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016: 
 
Summary of Income Statement: 

 
  Years Ended December 31 
  2017 2016 2015 
INCOME  P=6,419,953 P=6,778,721 P=35,220,811 
EXPENSES  (1,728,763) (1,654,282) (20,155,497) 
OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) NET  (20,641,768) – (23,641,540) 
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TAX  (15,950,578) 5,124,439 (8,576,226) 
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX  395,046 464,354 1,242,568 
NET INCOME (LOSS)  (15,555,532) 4,660,085 (9,818,794) 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(LOSS)  – – 166,847 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(LOSS)  (P=15,555,532) P=4,660,085 (P=9,651,947) 
BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS 

(LOSS) PER SHARE  (P=0.06) P=0.02 (P=0.04) 
     
 
Summary of Balance Sheet: 
 
 December 31 
  2017 2016 
ASSETS    
Current Assets  P=2,351,028 P=2,603,939 
Noncurrent Assets  316,499,592 334,187,582 
  P=318,850,620 P=336,791,521 
    
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    
Current Liabilities  P=509,990 P=2,431,005 
Noncurrent Liability  – 464,354 
  509,990 2,895,359 
Equity  318,340,630 333,896,162 
  P=318,850,620 P=336,791,521 
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Summary of Net Cash Flows: 
 
  Years Ended December 31 
  2017 2016 2015 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES  (P=181,103) P=263,077 (P=172,078,957) 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES  – – 865,177 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES  – – (123,057,281) 
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND 

CASH EQUIVALENTS  (181,103) 263,077 (294,417,969) 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

AT BEGINNING 
OF YEAR  324,502 61,425 294,479,394 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
AT END OF YEAR  P=143,399 P=324,502 P=61,425 
     
 

2017 vs. 2016 
 
Results of operations: 
(In Php millions) 

 Audited Increase (Decrease) 
  2017 2016  Amount Percentage 
Income ₱6.42 ₱6.78    (₱0.36) (5%) 
Expenses 1.73  1.65      0.08  5% 
Other Charges     20.64    –     20.64           – 

 
Income decreased by ₱0.36 million or 5% as compared last year is mainly due to lesser 
computed accretion on notes receivable. 
 
Expenses increased by ₱0.08 million or 5%. Changes in the expense accounts for the year 
ended December 31, 2017 versus the same period last year are as follows: 
 
• Decrease in professional fees by ₱0.44 million or equivalent to 47% is due last year 

payment and recognized of 2015 professional fees. 
• Increase in taxes and licenses by ₱0.49 million is due to payment of taxes this year 

compared to none last year. 
• Decrease in director’s fees by ₱0.03 million or equivalent to 16% is due to decrease of 

attendance of directors in board meetings this year. 
• Increase in SEC fees by ₱0.08 is due to the payment of annual fees this year compared to 

none last year. 
• Decrease in communication by ₱0.01 million is due to payment of development of website 

last year. 
 
Other charges increased by ₱20.64 million is mainly due to impairment loss on notes 
receivable. 
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Financial Position: 
(In Php millions) 
 

 Audited Increase(Decrease) 
 2017 2016 Amount Percentage 

Assets ₱318.85 ₱336.79 (₱17.94) (5%) 
Liabilities 0.51 2.89 (2.39) (82%) 
Shareholders’ Equity 318.34 333.90 (15.55) (5%) 

 
Assets 
 
The total assets of the Company decreased by ₱17.94 million or 5% from ₱336.79 million as of 
December 31, 2016 to ₱318.85 million as of December 31, 2017. The decrease was mainly 
attributable to the increase of notes receivable by ₱17.69 million or 5% due to impairment loss 
on notes receivable. 
 
Liabilities 
 
As at December 31, 2017, the total liabilities of the Company decreased by ₱2.39 million or 
equivalent to  82% from ₱2.89 million as at December 31, 2016 as compared to ₱0.51 million as 
at December 31, 2017.  The decrease was due to the following: 
 
• Current liabilities decreased by ₱1.92 million or 79%, mainly due to reversal of liability by 

an affiliate. 
 
• Noncurrent liabilities decreased by ₱0.46 million due to derecognition of deferred tax 

liability arising from accretion of notes receivable.  
 
Shareholders’  Equity 

 
As of year-end 2017, the shareholders’ equity decreased by ₱15.55 million from  
₱330.90 million as of December 31, 2016 to ₱318.34 million as of December 31, 2017. The 
decrease was attributable to the net loss of  ₱15.55 million in 2017. 
 
Explanations for the material changes in the Company’s accounts between 2016 and 2015 
are as follows: 
 
Results of operations 
 
Income decreased by ₱28.44 million or 81% as compared last year. In June 2015, the Company 
ceased its lending activities which resulted to lower interest income.   
 
Expenses decreased by ₱18.51 million or 92% due to cessation of lending activities. Significant 
changes in the expense accounts for the year ended December 31, 2016 versus the same period 
last year are as follows: 
 
• Decrease in salaries and employee benefits by ₱6.44 million or equivalent to 100% due to 

termination of all employees on June 2015. 
• Decrease in taxes and licenses by ₱4.93 million or equivalent to 100% as a result of ceasing 

the lending activities. The decrease pertains mainly to the tax in relation to lending 
transaction such as Documentary stamp tax and gross receipt tax. 

• Decrease in rent by ₱1.48 million or equivalent to 100% due to the cessation of lending 
activities. 
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Other charges decreased by ₱23.64 million due to last year’s loss on sale of loans receivable of 
₱11.64 million and finance cost of ₱11.87 million. 
 
Financial Position 
 
Assets 
 
The total assets of the Company increased by ₱7.04 million or 2% from ₱329.75 million as of 
December 31, 2015 to ₱336.79 million as of December 31, 2016. The increase was mainly due 
to the net effect of the following: 
 
• Cash increased by ₱0.26 million or 433% mainly due to advances received from affiliates. 
• Note receivable increased by ₱6.78 million or 2% due to the accretion of interest income 
 
Liabilities 
 
As of  December 31, 2016, the total liabilities of the Company increased by ₱2.38 million or 
equivalent to  466% from ₱0.51 million as of December 31, 2015 as compared to ₱2.90 million 
as of December 31, 2016.  The increase was due to the following: 
 
• Current liabilities increased by ₱1.90 million or 373%, mainly due to increase in payable 

from affiliate by ₱1.25 million. 
 
• Noncurrent liabilities increased by ₱0.46 million due to deferred tax liability arising from 

accretion of note receivable.  
 
Shareholders’ Equity 
 
As of year-end 2016, the shareholders’ equity increased by ₱4.66 million from  
₱329.24 million as of December 31, 2015 to ₱333.90 million as of December 31, 2016. The 
increase was attributable to the net income of  ₱4.66 million in 2016. 
 
Explanations for the material changes in the Company’s accounts between 2015 and 2014 
are as follows: 
 
Results of operations 
 
Interest income decreased by ₱46.99 million or 57% as compared last year. In June 2015, the 
Company ceased its lending activities which resulted to lower interest income.   
 
Expenses decreased by ₱12.69 million or 39% due to cessation of lending activities. Significant 
changes in the expense accounts for the year ended December 31, 2015 versus the same period 
last year are as follows: 
 
• Decrease in salaries and employee benefits by ₱4.76 million or equivalent to 42% due to 

termination of employees on June 2015. 
• Decrease in Taxes and licenses by ₱2.19 million or equivalent to 31% as a result of ceasing 

the lending activities. The decrease pertains mainly to the tax in relation to lending 
transaction such as documentary stamp tax and gross receipt tax. 

• Decrease in depreciation expense by ₱1.86 million or 92% mainly due to disposal of 
property and equipment.  
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• Increase in rent by ₱1.20 million or 424% because the Company is renting its office space 
at PSE Centre, Pasig City. 

 
Other charges increased by ₱23.23 million is attributable to loss on sale of loans receivable of 
₱11.64 million and finance cost of ₱11.87 million. 
 
Financial Position 
 
Assets 
 
The total assets of the Company decreased by ₱146.16 million or 31% from ₱475.91 million as 
at December 31, 2014 to ₱329.75 million as at December 31, 2015. The decrease was mainly due 
to the net effect of the following: 
 
• Cash and cash equivalents decreased by ₱294.42 million or 100% mainly due to payment 

of dividends to its stockholders and payment of payables. 
• On May 5, 2015, all of the Company’s outstanding receivables with carrying amount of 

₱332.60 were exchange for a five year note receivable with fair value of ₱327.41 million. 
• Other current assets increased by ₱2.06 million or 900% is attributable to creditable tax on 

current income tax. 
• Property and equipment decreased by ₱0.47 million or 100% due to disposal of property 

and equipment at its carrying amount. 
 
Liabilities 
 
As at December 31, 2015, the total liabilities of the Company decreased by ₱13.46 million or 
equivalent to  96% from ₱13.97 million as of December 31, 2014 as compared to ₱0.51 million 
as of December 31, 2015.  The decrease was due to the following: 
 
• Current liabilities decreased by ₱10.26 million or 95%, mainly due to payment of 2014 

income tax payable of ₱6.25 million and payment of accrued expenses and other current 
liabilities of ₱4.01. 

 
• Noncurrent liabilities decreased by ₱3.19 million due to payment of retirement benefit 

liability to terminated employees. 
 
Shareholders’  Equity 
 
As of year-end 2015, shareholders’ equity decreased by ₱132.71 million from ₱461.95 million 
as at December 31, 2014 to ₱329.24 million as at December 31, 2015. The decrease was 
attributable to the payment of cash dividend of ₱123.06 million and net operating loss of  
₱9.65 million. 
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Key Performance Indicators 
 

 2015 2016 2017 
Return on Asset (2%)   1% (5%) 
Return on Equity (3%)   3% (5%) 

 
      1/ Return on assets (ROA) was computed based on the ratio of net income/(net loss) to 

average assets. 
2/ Return on equity (ROE) was computed based on the ratio of net income/(net loss) to 
average equity. 

 
IV. Brief Description of the General Nature and Scope of the Business 

 
The Company was incorporated and registered with the Philippine Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) on December 14, 2001. 
 
The Company's shares of stock were listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) on  
August 13, 2013. As of September 30, 2018, 261,824,002 shares of the Company are listed 
in the PSE. 

 
On June 25, 2015, RYM Business Management Corp. (RYM) acquired 183,276,801 shares 
representing 70% interest in the Company from various stockholders. 
 
On November 27, 2017, ISOC Holdings, Inc. (ISOC) entered into an agreement with RYM 
for the purchase of 175,422,081 common shares held by RYM equivalent to 67% interest in 
the Company. A mandatory tender offer was conducted for the benefit of the minority 
shareholders and the same was completed on January 3, 2018. Thus, the shares were 
crossed via the PSE on January 4, 2018. 
 
Status of Operations 
 
To the knowledge of the Company, there has been no occurrence any insolvency or 
bankruptcy petition or similar proceedings filed by or against the Company. The 
Company is also not aware of any material reclassification, merger, consolidation or 
purchase or sale of a significant amount of assets that is not in the ordinary course of 
business of the Company. 

 
The Company’s lending activities were winded down in 2015. Further, the Company has 
not conducted any other business activities since then. The Company’s new shareholders 
have committed to provide financial support in order for the Company to continue as 
going concern. Also, the new shareholder is considering to implement changes in the 
Company’s business structure and operations which may include infusing assets that will 
generate revenue. 
 

V. DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 
 
The Company has no property as of September 30, 2018. 
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VI. Business Transactions with Related Parties 
 

The Company as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 advances from its wholly-owned 
subsidiary and affiliate are as follows: 
 
Related Party Under Common Control 

 
 Nature of Amount of Transaction Outstanding Balance 
 Transaction 2017 2016 2017 2016 
Due to a related 
party      
Bright Kindle 
Resources & 
Investments, Inc. 

Advances for 
working 
capital P=1,549,900 P=1,799,801 P=128,957 P=2,044,457 

 
VII. Employees 

As at December 31, 2017, the Company has no regular employees.  
 
VIII. Plan of Operation 

 
The Company, under its new name and purpose, plans to make investments, whether in 
existing companies or new ventures, with high potential value to build its portfolio.  
 

IX. Status of Operations 
The Company has no significant operational activity. 

 
X. Dividends 

The Company has not paid dividend for the years 2017 and 2016.   
 
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results as at 
September 30, 2018 and for the nine months period ended September 30, 2018 with 
comparative audited figures as of December 31, 2017 

 
The unaudited financial statement of Ferronoux Holdings, Inc. as at September 30, 2018 and 
for nine months period ended September 30, 2018 with comparative audited figure as of 
December 31, 2017 are in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles and there 
were no changes made in accounting policies and methods of computation in the preparation 
of the interim financial statements. 
 
Summary of Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017: 

     
 September 

30, 2018 
Unaudited 

Dec. 31, 
2017 

Audited 

September 30, 2018 vs. 
Dec. 31, 2017 

  
 
 

(₱’000) 

 
 
 

(₱’000) 

Amount 
Increase           

(decrease) 
(₱’000) 

Percentage 
Increase           

(decrease) 
(%) 

Current assets ₱2,314       ₱2,351 (₱37)  (2%) 
Noncurrent assets 321,414 316,500         4,914 2% 
Total Assets ₱323,728 ₱318,851 ₱4,877 2% 
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Current liabilities ₱494   ₱510 (₱16) (3%) 
Noncurrent liabilities − −  − − 
Total Liabilities 494 510 (16) (3%) 
Stockholders’ Equity 323,234 318,341 4,893 2% 
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity ₱323,728 ₱318,851 ₱4,877 2% 

 
Summary of Income Statements for the nine months and three months period ended 
September 30, 2018 and 2017. 
 

 For nine months ending  
September 30 

For three months ending  
September 30 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 (₱’000) (₱’000) (₱’000) (₱’000) 

Interest Income ₱4,914 ₱5,156 ₱1,638 ₱5,156 
Other Income 370 − − − 
Other Operating Expense (391) (1,133) (60) (68) 
Income Before Tax 4,893 4,023 1,578 5,088 
Tax Expense − − − − 
Net income for the period ₱4,893 ₱4,023 ₱1,578 ₱5,088 

 
Summary of Statement of Cash Flows for the nine months period ending September 30, 2018 
and 2017. 

  
For nine months 

ending September 30 
September 30 

 

 
For three months 

ending September 30 
September 30  2018 2017 2018 2017 

 (₱’000) (₱’000) (₱’000)  (₱’000)  
Cash (used) provided in 
operating activities 

 
(₱67) 

 
₱31 

 
₱− 

 
(₱68) 

Cash in banks at beginning of 
period 

 
141 

 
325 

 
74 

 
424 

Cash in banks at end of period ₱74 ₱356 ₱74 ₱356 
 
Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operation 
 
On March 6, 2015, the Board of Directors (BOD) approved the change of the Company’s 
principal purpose to a holding company, including investment in mining and smelting 
operations as secondary purpose. 
 
On June 26, 2015, the company disclosed that on June 25, 2015 Mr. Tony O. King and his 
family, that they have sold to RYM Business Management Corporation 183,276,801 common 
shares or 70% of AG Finance through a block sale for ₱280.00 million or approximately ₱ 1.53 
per share.  
 
On April 20, 2015, the shareholders approved the change in the Company's primary purpose 
from leasing and finance to that of a holding company, and adding as a secondary purpose, 
mining and smelting operations, and the amendment of the Company's Articles of 
Incorporation to reflect the changes in the primary and secondary purposes. On December 18, 
2015, the stockholders approved the amendment of the Articles of Incorporation to change its 
corporate name from AG Finance Incorporated to Ferronoux Metals Refinery Inc., change of 
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principal address from Unit 2205-A, East Tower Philippine Stock Exchange Center Exchange 
Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City to 16th Floor Citibank Tower, Paseo de Roxas, Makati City 
and to increase the number of directors from 7 to 9 and  Amendment of the Corporation’s By 
Laws to increase the number of directors from 7 to 9, change the date of the Annual Meeting 
from last Friday of June to last Wednesday of May as stated in Article II Section 1, change of 
stock symbol from AGF to FMR, election of the directors and appointment of Reyes 
Tacandong & Co. as the Corporation’s external auditor. On April 7, 2017, the Board approved 
the change of Corporate name to Ferronoux Holdings, Inc. subject to approval of the 
shareholders. On December 11, 2017, the stockholders approved the change in the primary 
purpose of the Company from leasing and finance to that of a holding company, and the 
change of the corporate name to Ferronoux Holdings, Inc. On February 6, 2018, the Securities 
and Exchange Commission approved the amendment of the Company’s Articles of 
Incorporation and By-Laws to reflect its new corporate name and the change in the primary 
purpose. 
 
On June 30, 2015, the Company ceased its lending activities. 
 
Results of Operation 
The following discussion and analysis is based on the unaudited interim financial statements 
for nine months period ending September 30, 2018 and 2017. 
 
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 Compared with the Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 2017 (Increase/Decrease of 5% or More) 
 
Interest Income 
Interest income were ₱4.91 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared 
to ₱5.12 million for the same period in 2017. The decrease in interest income is due to lower 
interest accretion on notes receivable for the current year compared to the same period last 
year. 
 
Other Operating Expenses 
Other operating expenses were ₱0.39 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 
compared to ₱1.13 million for the same period in 2017, a decrease of ₱0.74 million or 65%. The 
decrease in operating expenses is due to lower taxes and licenses and professional fees 
incurred this year versus last year. 
 
Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 Compared with the Three Months Ended 
September 30, 2017 (Increase/Decrease of 5% or More) 
 
Interest Income 
Interest income were ₱1.64 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 compared 
to ₱5.16 million for the same period in 2017. The huge decrease is due to lower computed 
accretion on notes receivable. 
 
Other Operating Expenses 
Other operating expenses were ₱0.06 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 
compared to ₱0.07 million for the same period in 2017, a decrease of ₱0.01 million or 14%.  
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Statements of Financial Position 
 
The significant changes in the Statement of Financial Position accounts during the nine 
months ended September 30, 2018 compared to December 31, 2017 are as follows: 
 

• Total assets were ₱323.73 million as of September 30, 2018 compared to  
₱318.85 million for the same period in 2017, an increase of ₱4.88 million or 2%. The 
increase is mainly due to interest accretion on notes receivable. 

 
• Total liabilities decreased by ₱0.02 million or 3% from ₱0.51 million to ₱0.49 million 

mainly due to decrease of accrued expense in the current year. 
 
• Total equity increased by ₱4.89 million or 2% mainly due to recognition of interest 

income for the nine-month period ending September 30, 2018. 
 
Statements of Cash Flows 
 
The net cash provided in operating activities amounted to ₱0.07 million for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2018 compared to net cash generated last year amounted ₱0.03 million. 
The net cash provided in the same period in 2017 of ₱0.03 million was due to the increase in 
accrued expenses. 
 
As a result, the cash as at September 30, 2018 and 2017 amounted to ₱0.07 million and  
₱0.36 million, respectively. 
 
Horizontal and Vertical Analysis: 

 
 

September 30, 2018 December 31, 2017 Increase (Decrease) 
 (Unaudited) (Audited) Amount Percentage 

ASSETS     

Current Assets     
Cash in banks ₱74,094 ₱141,399  (₱67,305) (48%) 
Other current assets 2,240,349 2,209,629 30,720 1% 
  Total Current Assets 2,314,443 2,351,028 (36,585) (2%) 

Noncurrent Assets     
Note receivable 321,413,641 316,499,592 4,914,049 2% 
 ₱323,728,084 ₱318,850,620 ₱4,877,464 2% 
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LIABILITIES AND EQUITY     

Current Liabilities     
Accrued expenses and other 

current liabilities ₱494,412 ₱509,990  (₱15,578) (3%) 
     
Equity     
Capital stock 261,824,002 261,824,002 − − 
Additional paid-in capital  74,277,248 74,277,248 − − 
Deficit (12,867,578) (17,760,620) 4,893,042 (28%) 
  Total Equity 323,233,672 318,340,630 4,893,042 2% 
 ₱323,728,084 ₱318,850,620 ₱4,877,464 2% 
     
 
FINANCIAL INDICATORS 
 

 September 30, 2018 September 30, 2017 
Net income (loss)  4,893,042 4,023,065 
Quick assets 74,094 356,111 
Current assets 2,314,443 2,635,048 
Total assets 323,728,084 341,978,138 
Current liabilities 494,412 3,594,557 
Total liabilities 494,412 4,058,911 
Shareholders’ equity 323,233,672 337,919,227 
Number of common shares outstanding 261,842,002 261,842,002 
   
Current Ratio1/ 4.68 0.73 
Debt to Equity Ratio2/ 0.002 0.012 
Asset to Equity Ratio3/ 1.00 1.01 
Return on Assets4/ 2% 1% 
Return on Equity5/ 2% 1% 
Book value per share ₱1.23 ₱1.29 
    
1/ Current assets divided by current liabilities   
2/ Total liabilities divided by equity   
3/ Total assets divided by equity   
4/ Net income divided by average assets   
5/ Net income divided by average equity   
6/ Total common stockholder’s equity divided by 

Number of common shares 
  

 
OTHER INFORMATION 

 
a. There are no known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that have 

a material impact on the Company’s liquidity. 
 

b. There are no events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is 
material to the Company. 

 
c. There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations, and 

other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities, or other persons were 
created during the interim period. 
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d. There are no material commitments for capital expenditures during the interim period. 

 
e. There are no known trends, events or uncertainties that have or are reasonably 

expected to have a material impact on net sales/ revenues/ income from continuing 
operations. 
 

f. There is no significant income or expense that did not arise from the Company’s 
continuing operations. 

 
g. There is no seasonal aspect that had a material effect on the financial condition or 

results of operation. 
 

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION 
   
The issuer may, at its option, report under this item any information not previously reported 
in a report on SEC Form 17-C.  If disclosure of such information is made under this Part II, it 
need not be repeated in a report on Form 17-C which would otherwise be required to be filed 
with respect to such information or in a subsequent report on Form 17-Q. 
 
 

PART III - FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS 
 
Liquidity Ratio 

 
a. Current Ratio  

Total Current Assets/ Total Current Liabilities =4.68 
b. Quick Ratio  

Quick asset / Total Current Liabilities = 0.15 
 
Solvency Ratio 

a. Debt Ratio  
Total liabilities / Total assets = 0.002 

b. Debt to Equity Ratio  
Total liabilities / Shareholder’s Equity = 0.002 

 
Profitability Ratio 

a.  Return on Equity Ratio  
             Net loss / Average shareholder’s equity = 2% 

b.  Return on Assets  
      Net loss / Average Total assets = 2% 

c.  Asset to Equity Ratio: 
             Total Assets / Ave. Stockholders’ Equity = 1.00 

d.  Asset Turnover 
             Revenue/Total Assets = 2% 
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Market Information 
 
The Company's common shares are listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (PSE) on  
August 13, 2013. As of September 30, 2018, 261,824,002 shares of the Company are listed in the 
PSE. 
 
The closing market price of the Company’s common stock in the Philippine Stock Exchange 
on 23 October 2018 is Php4.13. 
 
The high and low prices for each quarter of 2018 and 2017 are provided below.  
 

Quarter Stock High Low 
1Q 2015 FERRO 7.88 3.70 
2Q 2015 FERRO 8.90 6.40 
3Q 2015 FERRO 7.65 2.20 
4Q 2015 FERRO 3.32 2.50 
1Q 2016 FERRO 3.60 1.96 
2Q 2016 FERRO 4.60 2.79 
3Q 2016 FERRO 3.99 3.24 
4Q 2016 FERRO 3.86 3.15 
1Q 2017 FERRO 4.19 3.01 
2Q 2017 FERRO 5.01 3.00 
3Q 2017 FERRO 5.90 3.60 
4Q 2017 FERRO 5.11 3.10 
1Q 2018 FERRO 4.48 3.00 
2Q 2018 FERRO 4.02 3.20 
3Q 2018 FERRO 4.75 3.38 

 
Source: www.investagrams.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The stockholders of the Company as of 30 September 2018 is provided below: 
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Sale of Unregistered or Exempt Securities 

There was no sale or issuance of any securities which were not registered under the Code 
within the past three (3) years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Corporate Governance 

COMPANY NAME : Page 1FERRONOUX HOLDINGS, INC.
LIST OF ALL STOCKHOLDERS
As Of September 30, 2018

OUTSTANDING & OUTSTANDING & TOTAL PERCENTAGE
ISSUED SHARES HOLDINGSISSUED SHARES TO

(FULLY PAID) (PARTIALLY PAID) (SUBSCRIBED)

STOCKHOLDER'S NAME

TOTAL

NATIONALITY

PCD NOMINEE CORP. (FILIPINO) FILIPINO     261,705,119 261,705,119  0  99.955
PCD NOMINEE CORP. (NON-FIL) NON-FILIPINO  58,011 58,011  0  0.022
JOSELYN C. TIU FILIPINO     18,747 18,747  0  0.007
MARJORIE VILLANUEVA FILIPINO     18,747 18,747  0  0.007
LEILA E. JORGE FILIPINO     10,001 10,001  0  0.004
FELISA D. KING FILIPINO     8,747 8,747  0  0.003
MATHEW JOHN G. ALMOGINO FILIPINO     1,000 1,000  0  0.000
REMEGIO C. DAYANDAYAN FILIPINO     1,000 1,000  0  0.000
RAMON N. SANTOS FILIPINO     1,000 1,000  0  0.000
JESUS SAN LUIS VALENCIA FILIPINO     1,000 1,000  0  0.000
ISIDRO C. ALCANTARA JR FILIPINO     100 100  0  0.000
MANUEL M. LAZARO FILIPINO     100 100  0  0.000
GE LIN CHINESE      100 100  0  0.000
HERMOGENE H. REAL FILIPINO     100 100  0  0.000
ARSENIO K. SEBIAL JR FILIPINO     100 100  0  0.000
ANTHONY M. TE FILIPINO     100 100  0  0.000
OWEN NATHANIEL S AU ITF: LI MARCUS AU FILIPINO     20 20  0  0.000
PETER KHO FILIPINO     2 2  0  0.000
DALESON UY FILIPINO     2 2  0  0.000
JESUS G. CHUA, JR. FILIPINO     1 1  0  0.000
IRVING C. COSIQUIEN FILIPINO     1 1  0  0.000
MICHAEL C. COSIQUIEN FILIPINO     1 1  0  0.000
YERIK C. COSIQUIEN FILIPINO     1 1  0  0.000
ALFRED S. JACINTO FILIPINO     1 1  0  0.000
MICHELLE JOAN G. TAN FILIPINO     1 1  0  0.000

     
GRAND TOTAL (25)  261,824,002  0  261,824,002

THIS IS A COMPUTER GENERATED REPORT AND IF ISSUED WITHOUT ALTERATION, DOES NOT REQUIRE ANY SIGNATURE.

 100.000
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A. Evaluation System  
 
The Corporation adopted and implemented its Revised Manual on Corporate Governance on 
April 7, 2017 to institutionalize the principles of good corporate governance in the entire 
organization. The Corporation maintains two (2) independent directors in its Board and has 
designated a Compliance Officer to oversee the implementation of the Manual.  
 
Currently, the Corporation has a Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee to pre-
screen and short-list all candidates nominated to become a member of the Board; Audit, Risk 
Oversight and Related Party Transaction to check all financial reports and to provide 
oversight on financial management functions; and an Executive Committee that oversees day-
to-day operations of the Company. 

 
B. Measures being undertaken by the Company to comply with the adopted leading 

practices on good corporate governance 
 
The Board of Directors shall review the Manual from time to time and recommend the 
amendment thereof with the goal of achieving transparency and accountability. The 
Compliance Officer continues to evaluate the compliance of the Corporation, its directors, 
officers and employees with its existing Manual. 

 
C. Any deviation from the company’s Manual of Corporate Governance 

 
While there has been no known material deviation from the Company’s Revised Manual on 
Corporate Governance for the year 2017, the new management of the Company, through its 
officers and Board of Directors, is still in the process of reviewing the existing policies and 
practices of the Company to ensure compliance and full implementation of the Revised 
Manual on Corporate Governance.  
 

D. Any plan to improve corporate governance of the Company 
 
The Board recently approved the resolution to amend certain provisions of its By-Laws to 
incorporate and supplement its Revised Manual on Corporate Governance. The Board and 
the respective committees are now in the process of reviewing and drafting the Board and 
committee charters that will institutionalize leading practices on good corporate governance 
in the Company’s operations and internal functions. 
 

UPON THE WRITTEN REQUEST OF THE STOCKHOLDER(S), THE CORPORATION 
UNDERTAKES TO FURNISH SAID STOCKHOLDER(S) WITH A COPY OF SEC FORM 
17-A, FREE OF CHARGE, EXCEPT FOR THE EXHIBIT ATTACHED THERETO, WHICH 
SHALL BE CHARGED AT A COST.  ANY WRITTEN REQUEST FOR A COPY OF SEC 
FORM 17-A SHALL BE ADDRESSED TO ATTY. ALLESANDRA FAY V. ALBARICO AT 
6TH FLOOR, HANSTON BUILDING, F. ORTIGAS, JR. ROAD, ORTIGAS CENTER, 
PASIG CITY 
 


